PIEZOELECTRIC-BASED IMMUNOSENSOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN DETERMINATION

PIYARAT SRIPOOROTE

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE (MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY) FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES MAHIDOL UNIVERSITY 2013

COPYRIGHT OF MAHIDOL UNIVERSITY

Thesis entitled PIEZOELECTRIC-BASED IMMUNOSENSOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN DETERMINATION

Miss Piyarat Sripoorote Candidate

Asst. Prof. Chamras Promptmas, Ph.D. Major advisor

Asst. Prof. Sureerut Porntadavity, Ph.D. Co-advisor

Lect. Pornpimol Sritongkham, Ph.D. Co-advisor Lect. Tararat Khaokhiew, Ph.D.

Lect. Tararat Khaokhiew, Ph.D. Co-advisor

Prof. Banchong Mahaisavariya, M.D., Dip Thai Board of Orthopedics Dean Faculty of Graduate Studies Mahidol University

Asst. Prof. Chotiros Plabplueng, Ph.D. Program Director Master of Science Program in Medical Technology Faculty of Medical Technology Mahidol University

.....

Thesis entitled

PIEZOELECTRIC-BASED IMMUNOSENSOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN DETERMINATION

was submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies, Mahidol University for the degree of Master of Science (Medical Technology) on March 29, 2013

> Miss Piyarat Sripoorote Candidate

> Assoc. Prof. Kosum Chansiri, Ph.D. Chair

Asst. Prof. Chamras Promptmas, Ph.D. Member

Lect. Tararat Khaokhiew, Ph.D. Member Asst. Prof. Sureerut Porntadavity, Ph.D. Member

Prof. Banchong Mahaisavariya, M.D., Dip Thai Board of Orthopedics Dean Faculty of Graduate Studies Mahidol University Prof. Virapong Prachayasittikul, Ph.D. Dean Faculty of Medical Technology Mahidol University

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The success of this thesis can be succeeded by the attentive support from my major advisor, Asst. Prof. Chamras Promptmas who gave me valuable suggestions, continue support and encouragement throughout my thesis.

I would like to sincere grateful to my co-advisor, Dr. Tararat Khaokhiew for her kindly attention, valuable suggestion, inspiration and insightful comment and also thank to Asst. Prof. Sureerut Porntadavity and Dr. Pornpimon Sritongkham for their valuable advice, meaningful comment, and kindly attention.

I deeply thank to Assoc. Prof. Kosum Chansiri for being a chair and external examiner for my thesis defense.

I would like to thank all lecturers and staffs at Faculty of Medical Technology, Mahidol University for all their contribution during my coursework and through all my acadamic years.

I would like to thank all my friends and all members of Biosensor Reseach Unit for their understanding, friendly assistance, encouragement, and sharing a good time together.

Finally, my deepest gratitude goes to my parents and my younger brother for their understanding, kindness, valuable suggestion, financial support, endless encouragement throughout my life, and great love to me. I am also thankful to my blue sky who gave me inspiration and encouragement.

The usefulness of this thesis, I dedicate to my parents and all the teachers who have taught me valuable experience and knowledge.

Piyarat Sripoorote

PIEZOELECTRIC-BASED IMMUNOSENSOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN DETERMINATION

PIYARAT SRIPOOROTE 5337610 MTMT/M

M.Sc. (MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY)

THESIS ADVISORY COMMITTEE: CHAMRAS PROMPTMAS, Ph.D., SUREERUT PORNTADAVITY, Ph.D., TARARAT KHAOKHIEW, Ph.D., PORNPIMOL SRITONGKHAM, Ph.D.

ABSTRACT

Oxidized low density lipoprotein (OxLDL) is a crucial contributor in the progression of atherosclerosis. The elevation of OxLDL in circulating is associated with pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Therefore, OxLDL is a biomarker for preventing and monitoring atherosclerosis progression. A piezoelectric immunosensor was developed for OxLDL detection. The OxLDL immunosensor was fabricated by immobilizing anti-OxLDL on silver electrode surface of 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal via self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of mercaptopropionic acid (MPA). The resonant frequency shift of this sensing was monitored by using RQCM under liquid system when the mass accumulated on the electrode surface. The optimal condition of immobilizing was 100 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL for 30 minutes. The immobilized antibody in OxLDL immunosensor performed binding with OxLDL. Dose response curve for OxLDL measurement showed a linear response from 0.5 to 3.10 μ mole/l. The limit of detection of OxLDL was 0.5 μ mole/l. An analytical accuracy of this sensing was 97.02%. The intra-assay and inter-assay precision (CVs) were 9.37 and 23.04%, respectively. This system was successfully developed to determine the amount of OxLDL. Therefore, this immunosensor would be proposed for measuring OxLDL concentration in clinical diagnosis.

KEY WORDS: ATHEROSCLEROSIS / BIOSENSOR / IMMUNOSENSOR / OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN (OXLDL)

90 pages

อิมมูโนเซนเซอร์สำหรับการวัดปริมาณไลโปโปรตีนชนิดความหนาแน่นต่ำที่ถูกออกซิไดส์ PIEZOELECTRIC-BASED IMMUNOSENSOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN DETERMINATION

ปียะรัตน์ ศรีภูโรจน์ 5337610 MTMT/M

วท.ม. (เทคนิคการแพทย์)

กณะกรรมการที่ปรึกษาวิทยานิพนธ์: จำรัส พร้อมมาศ, Ph.D., สุรีรัตน์ พรธาคาวิทย์, Ph.D., ธารารัตน์ ขาวเขียว, Ph.D., พรพิมล ศรีทองกำ, Ph.D.

บทคัดย่อ

ปัจจุบันโรคหลอดเลือดแดง แข็งตัวเป็นสาเหตุของการตายอันดับหนึ่งของประชากร โลก การเสื่อมของหลอดเลือดแดงทำให้ขาดเลือดไปเลี้ยงหัวใจและสมองซึ่งทำให้เสียชีวิต ได้อย่าง เฉียบพลัน OxLDL เป็นปัจจัยหนึ่งในการเริ่มด้นที่ทำให้เกิดภาวะหลอดเลือดแข็งตัว หากมีปริมาณ เพิ่มขึ้นสามารถนำมาใช้เป็นตัวชี้วัดความเสี่ยงในการเกิดโรคของหลอดเลือดแดงได้การศึกษานี้เป็น การพัฒนาระบบอิมมูโนเซนเซอร์เพื่อใช้ในการตรวจวัดปริมาณ OxLDL การพัฒนาอิมมูโน เซนเซอร์นี้ทำโดยการตรึงแอนติบอดีต่อ OxLDL บนผิวอิเล็กโทรดของผลึกควอตซ์ชนิด AT-cut ที่มี ความถี่พื้นฐาน 10 MHz โดยอาศัยหลักการ self-assembled monolayer ของ mercaptopropionic acid ซึ่งความถี่ที่เปลี่ยนไปเกิดจากมวลของสารที่สะสมอยู่บนผิวของผลึกควอตซ์ภายใด้ระบบของไหล นั้นสามารถติดตามได้จากเกรื่องวัดความถี่ RQCM จากการศึกษาพบว่าปริมาณและเวลาที่เหมาะสม ในการตรึงแอนติบอดีต่อ OxLDL คือ 100 μg/ml ที่ 30 นาที โดยมีความสามารถในการวัดปริมาณ OxLDL อยู่ในช่วงความเข้มข้น 0.5–3.10 μmole/l โดยข้อจำกัดความเข้มข้นของ OxLDL ที่น้อยที่สุด ในระบบที่สามารถวัดได้กือ 0.5 μmole/l ความถูกต้องในการวิเคราะห์กือ 97.02% ส่วนความแม่นขำ ในการวัดชนิด intra-assay และ inter-assay เท่ากับ 9.37 และ 23.04% ตามลำดับ ระบบอิมมูโน เซนเซอร์ต้นแบบนี้สามารถใช้ในการตรวจวัดปริมาณ OxLDL ได้

90 หน้า

CONTENTS

		Page
ACKNOWLEI	OGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)		
ABSTRACT (1	THAI)	V
LIST OF TABI	LES	viii
LIST OF FIGU	IRES	ix
LIST OF ABBI	REVIATIONS	xi
CHAPTER I	INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER II	OBJECTIVES	4
CHAPTER III	LITERATURE REVIEWS	5
3.1 4	Atherosclerosis	5
	3.1.1 Risk factors of cardiovascular disease	6
3.2 I	Lipoprotein	7
	3.2.1 Lipoprotein classification	9
	3.2.2 Apolipoprotein	11
	3.2.3 The role of low density lipoprotein	13
3.3 (Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein	15
	3.3.1 Mechanisms of LDL oxidation	18
	3.3.2 Biological products of LDL oxidation	20
	3.3.3 Measurement methods of LDL oxidation	22
3.4 1	Biosensor	25
	3.4.1 Piezoelectric quartz crystal-based immunoassay	26
	3.4.2 Immobilization techniques	29
	3.4.3 Self-assembled monolayer	30
CHAPTER IV	MATERIALS AND METHODS	32
4.1 M	Materials	32
	4.1.1 Instruments, chemicals, and reagents	32
	4.1.2 Reagent preparation	35

CONTENTS (cont.)

		Page
4.2 M	Methods	37
	4.2.1 Oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL) preparation	38
	4.2.2 The measurement system and OxLDL immunosensor	39
	preparation	
	4.2.3 OxLDL immunosensor system optimization	43
	4.2.4 OxLDL immunosensor performance evaluation	44
CHAPTER V	RESULTS	46
5.1 (Oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL) preparation	46
5.2	The measurement system and OxLDL immunosensor preparation	49
5.3 (OxLDL immunosensor system optimization	51
	5.3.1 Immobilization of anti-OxLDL	51
	5.3.2 Binding ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosensor surface	54
5.4 0	OxLDL immunosensor performance evaluation	56
	5.4.1 Dose response curve	56
	5.4.2 Accuracy of assay	58
	5.4.3 Precision of assay	58
	5.4.4 Interference of the OxLDL immunosensor	59
CHAPTER VI	DISCUSSION	61
CHAPTER VII	[CONCLUSION	69
REFERENCES	5	70
APPENDIX		80
BIOGRAPHY		90

LIST OF TABLES

Tabl	e	Page
3.1	Characteristics and function of major lipoprotein	9
3.2	Chemical component molecules of each lipoprotein	9
3.3	Major apolipoprotein	12
3.4	The major chemical and physicochemical of OxLDL undergo oxidative	16
	changes	
3.5	The biological properties of OxLDL	17
4.1	List of instruments	33
4.2	List of chemicals and reagents	34
5.1	Expected values of OxLDL detection by using OxLDL immunosensor	58
5.2	Precision of OxLDL detection by using OxLDL immunosensor	58

LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	Ire	Page
3.1	The progression of atherosclerosis in subendothelial space of the arterial	6
	wall	
3.2	Structure of lipoprotein particle	8
3.3	The density and size-distribution of the major lipoprotein classes	11
3.4	The metabolism pathway of LDL	13
3.5	Structure of LDL composed of triglyceride, cholesteryl ester,	15
	phospholipid, unesterified cholesterol, and apo B100	
3.6	Mechanisms of LDL oxidation	20
3.7	A typical biosensor configuration; biological recognition and tranducer	25
	modified from Peter et al.	
3.8	Piezoelectric quartz crystal structures; metal electrodes, quartz plate,	27
	wire holders, and contacts modified from Petr	
3.9	Schematic diagram of immobilization method in biosensor modified	30
	from Brian	
4.1	A schematic diagram of OxLDL preparation	38
4.2	A schematic diagram of TBARS assay	39
4.3	The construction of flow cell	40
4.4	A schematic of measuring system setup $(1 = RQCM, 2 = syringe pump,$	40
	and $3 = $ flow cell)	
4.5	A schematic model for anti-OxLDL immobilization on silver electrode	41
	of piezoelectric quartz crystal	
4.6	A schematic diagram of OxLDL immunosensor preparation	43
5.1	The relationship between 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (TMP)	47
	concentration (μ mole/l) and the absorbance at 532 nm were measured	
	by TBARS assay for calculating the concentration of OxLDL $(n = 3)$	

LIST OF FIGURES (cont.)

Figu	ire	Page
5.2	The relationship between concentration of human LDL inducing	48
	with $CuSO_4$ at 37°C for 24 h and the concentration of OxLDL from	
	the oxidative modification measured by TBARS assay $(n = 3)$	
5.3	The signal stability of measurement system was performed by	49
	injecting PBS buffer pH 7.4 through the flow cell for 30 min at the	
	different flow rates by syringe pump	
5.4	A schematic model of OxLDL immunosensor preparation showed the	50
	immobilization of anti-OxLDL via self-assembled monolayer (SAM)	
	onto modified quartz crystal	
5.5	The relationship between the concentration of anti-OxLDL and the	52
	resonant frequency shift (Hz) of quartz crystal	
5.6	The relationship between the incubation time of anti-OxLDL	53
	immobilization and the resonant frequency shift (Hz) of quartz crystal	
5.7	The relationship between the binding ability of anti-OxLDL on	55
	immunosensor surface and the resonant frequency shift (Hz) of	
	quartz crystal	
5.8	Dose response curve of OxLDL immunosensor was performed by	57
	measurement OxLDL at the concentration of 0.5-3.1 $\mu mole/l$ under	
	the optimal condition of OxLDL immunosensor $(n = 3)$	
5.9	Specificity of OxLDL immunosensor was tested with the suspected	60
	interferences such as HDL, LDL, and VLDL by using OxLDL	
	immunosensor under the same condition $(n = 3)$	

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Anti-OxLDL	Antibody for oxidized low density lipoprotein
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
°C	Degree Celsius
C.V.	Coefficient of variation
DW	Distilled water
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
F ₀	Fundamental frequency
ΔF	Resonant frequency shift
g	Gram
Hz	Hertz
L.	Liter
Μ	Molar
mm	Millimeter
mg	Milligram
min	Minute
nm	Nanometer
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
QCM	Quartz crystal microbalance
RQCM	Research quartz crystal microbalance system,
	MAXTEK INC.
RT	Room temperature
S.D.	Standard deviation
μg	Microgram

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is an inflammation disease of the arterial wall involving formation of plaque in the intima layer or subendothelial space. It facilitates cardiovascular disease (CVD) leading causes of death in worldwide (1). There are many risk factors associated with atherosclerosis such as low density lipoprotein (LDL) level, high density lipoprotein (HDL) level, blood pressure, obesity, diabetes mellitus, and smoking. The high circulating LDL in plasma can be trapped into intima layer of the arterial wall and these LDL molecules can become to oxidation by many mechanisms such as free radicals, metal ions, lipoxygenase, and myeloperoxidase, called, oxidized LDL (OxLDL) (2, 3). Then, the OxLDL is taken up by macrophages via scavenger receptors, leading to accumulate of foam cells in atherosclerosis plaque and inflammation in the arterial wall (4). Therefore, OxLDL is the important contributor and major risk factor of atherosclerosis. The elevated levels of OxLDL in circulation can be indicated the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis events (5, 6).

Several investigation methods have been used to measure plasma OxLDL level such as thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay, conjugated diene assay, electrophoretic mobility method, nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), mass spectrometry (MS), and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (7-10). TBARS assay and conjugated diene are general used for measurement the plasma OxLDL (11, 12). TBARS assay can be measured the reaction of thiobarbituric acid and malondialdehyde (TBA-MDA) complex to yield the secondary product of lipid peroxidation. However, MDA can be generated from the interferences therefore it is not the final reaction product of lipid peroxidation (13). For conjugated diene assay, the principle of this method is used to measure rearrangement of double bonds in polyunsaturated fatty acid (12). Both methods are simple and rapid, but they are non-specific and low limit detection for LDL oxidation (7, 14). The electrophoretic

mobility method is used to detect OxLDL based on the charge migration of molecules in the agarose gel. This method is high sensitivity for in vitro, but it is low sensitivity in the clinical sample (7). Moreover, the amount of plasma OxLDL can be determined by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), and mass spectrometry (MS). These methods are inconvenience for clinical laboratory regarding to the complexity of technique and the running cost of analysis. Recently, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was developed to measure plasma OxLDL using monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) such as E06, FOH1a/DLH3, and 4E6 antibodies that recognized with specific structure of OxLDL (15, 16). However, this method provides high sensitivity and specificity for the analytical performance, but it has high cost per unit and long assay time. Therefore, the alternative detection methods of plasma OxLDL should be developed to solve the weakness of those methods.

Piezoelectric immunosensor is one type of biosensing device that has been developed by integrating the immunoassay coupled with the sensing device. The piezoelectric-based immunosensor is based on antigen-antibody interaction which causes mass deposition on the surface of sensing element. This measurable mass change has direct correlation to the frequency change sensing device. It is highly sensitive to mass change without the requirement of labeling system. Regarding to this simple detection concept, the assay volume of both reagent and sample is generally less than other technique. This system has been applied in environment, chemical analysis, and clinical detection including lipoprotein particle measurement such as LDL and HDL (17-19). Moreover, this measuring system can operate both in gaseous and liquid phases (20, 21).

The aim of this study is to develop the OxLDL immunosensor for detecting plasma OxLDL in the circulation. This OxLDL immunosensor was developed based on piezoelectric quartz crystal for measuring plasma OxLDL by immobilizing anti-OxLDL onto modified quartz crystal surface via self-assembled monolayer (SAM) method. The anti-OxLDL played the key role of binding interaction between OxLDL particle and anti-OxLDL. This binding interaction created the accumulation of mass on the surface of the sensing device which was monitored the resonant frequency shift of quartz crystal by the oscillator frequency counter. The system optimization of anti-OxLDL immobilization and other involved parameters in this study were also investigated such as accuracy, precision, specificity, limit of detection and others. In this study, the immunosensor based on piezoelectric technology was developed to be a new method for OxLDL measurement and it would be useful for monitoring the atherosclerosis events in clinical work in the future.

CHAPTER II OBJECTIVES

The main objectives of this study consist of:

- 1. To create the OxLDL immunosensor for quantification of OxLDL by using piezoelectric-based quartz crystal immunosensor in liquid phase.
- 2. To optimize the OxLDL immunosensor system for quantification of OxLDL, including flow rate, antibody immobilization, and binding ability of antibody.
- 3. To evaluate the reliability of OxLDL immunosensor assay in term of detection range, accuracy, precision, sensitivity, and specificity.

The expected outcome of this study:

The expected result of this OxLDL immunosensor is efficacy to monitor OxLDL. Moreover, the main propose of this study is to obtain a new analytical method for OxLDL detection that would be utilized in the clinical diagnostic.

CHAPTER III LITERATURE REVIEWS

3.1 Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis is a disease of the arterial wall which is characterized by lipid accumulation, chronic inflammation, cell death, and thrombosis. This disease is an important problem of cardiovascular disease (CVD) that claims lives in the developing counties. The progression of atherosclerosis develops from the high circulating LDL in plasma. The LDL molecules transport across the endothelial cell and trap into intima layer of the arterial wall. These LDL are modified to oxidized LDL (OxLDL) by cell-mediated oxidation such as free radicals, lipoxygenase, and myeloperoxidase. Then, OxLDL stimulates immune system to release the circulating monocyte leading to monocyte trap into intima layer and transform themselves to macrophages. After that, the OxLDL uptake by macrophages via scavenger receptor leading to accumulation of foam cell called atherosclerosis plaque. Finally, the formation of thrombus and the inflammation in the arterial wall are developed after the plaque ruptured resulting in CVD (1, 22, 23). Therefore, the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis associated with the oxidative modification of LDL. It can be produced the formation of plaque in intima layer leads to reduce blood supply and developing inflammatory in the arterial wall. Moreover, OxLDL is a biomarker for monitoring atherosclerosis risk factor. The progression of atherosclerosis in the arterial wall is shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1 The progression of atherosclerosis in subendothelial space of the arterial wall (24). Native LDL trapped in the subendothelial space and oxidized to oxidized LDL (OxLDL) by cell-mediated oxidation. OxLDL stimulated immune system to release monocyte that trapped into subendothelial space and become macrophage (A). Macrophage ingested OxLDL resulting in formation of foam cell (C). OxLDL can cause endothelial injury and dysfunction leading atherosclerosis (D).

3.1.1 Risk factors of cardiovascular disease

There are many risk factors that used to predict the incident of cardiovascular disease such as

3.1.1.1 Age

The risk of developing cardiovascular disease is average for a 30 to 34 year old male when compared with other individual aged. Therefore, age is a one factor for incident cardiovascular disease (25).

3.1.1.2 Gender

Many studies reveal that males exhibit excess risk for cardiovascular disease compared with age-matched women. Estrogens act as a protective effect of cardiovascular disease in woman after menopause leading to the decreasing of cardiovascular disease risk factor (26).

3.1.1.3 Obesity

Stoker R et al. described that the excess body weight with an abnormal high preponderance of body fat is a condition that increases the incident risk of cardiovascular disease (27).

3.1.1.4 Cigarette smoking

The increasing cigarette smoking is linked to a cause of heart disease, myocardial infarction, atherosclerosis, and coronary heart disease (28).

3.1.1.5 Hypertension

The hypertensive patients are related to the risk of cardiovascular disease. The elevation of blood pressure leads to the increased incident of atherosclerosis (29).

3.1.1.6 Diabetes mellitus

The diabetes patients, the risk of coronary artery disease and atherosclerosis are three to five fold greater than in non-diabetics despite controlling for other risk factors (30).

3.1.1.7 Serum cholesterol

The increasing LDL cholesterol is associated with atherosclerosis due to a functional of LDL receptor impaired and defected in clearance of LDL (1).

3.2 Lipoprotein

Lipoprotein is macromolecular complex that contains both proteins and lipids. The protein and lipid are hold together by non-covalent force. The functional of lipoprotein is transport lipid into the blood circulation. Lipoproteins are water-soluble spherical particles including the hydrophobic core and the outer surface monolayer. The hydrophobic core consists of triglyceride (TG) and cholesteryl ester (CE) and the outer surface monolayer includes phospholipid (PL), unesterified cholesterol (UC), and specialized protein called apolipoprotein (apo) as shown in Figure 3.2. Lipoproteins are classified on the basis of density, size, and electrophoretic mobility into 5 major classes including chylomicron (CM), very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), and high density lipoprotein (HDL). The different of each lipoprotein classes is depended on the amount of the component and the different apolipoprotein type on their outer surface (31, 32). Therefore, the characteristics of the major classes of lipoprotein are represented in terms of density, molecular weight, diameter, migration during electrophoresis, and functional of each lipoprotein as shown in Table 3.1. In addition, the chemical compositions of each lipoprotein are shown in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.2 Structure of lipoprotein particle (31). This particle contains hydrophobic core: triglyceride and cholesteryl ester and outer surface monolayer: phospholipid, unesterified cholesterol, and apolipoprotein. Reprinted from Journal of Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, Vol. 7, Wasan KM, Brocks DR, Lee SD, Sachs-Barrable K, Thornton SJ, Impact of lipoproteins on the biological activity and disposition of hydrophobic drugs: implications for drug discovery, P.84-99, Copyright (2008), with permission from Nature Reviews Drug Discovery (Permission Number: 3120590060327).

Fac. of Grad. Studies, Mahidol Univ.

Characteristics	Chylomicron	VLDL	IDL	LDL	HDL
MW×10 ⁻⁶	504	19.6	nr	2.3	0.36
Density (g/mL)	0.93	0.930 -1.006	1.006 -1.019	1.019–1.063	1.063-1.210
Diameter (nm)	75-1200	30-80	25-35	18-28	5-12
Electrophoretic Mobility	Origin	Pre-β	Slow Pre-β	β	α
Apolipoprotein	B48, A2, C2	B100, C2,C2	B100, C3, E	B100	A1, A2
Function	Transport of exogenous triglyceride and cholesterol	Transport of endogenous triglyceride	-	Cholesterol transport to all tissues	Reverse cholesterol transport

Table 3.1 Characteristics and function of major lipoprotein (31-33)

Table 3.2 Chemical component molecules of each lipoprotein (32)

Lipoprotein	Amino	PL	FC	CE	TG	Equivalent
particle	aciu					Taulus (A)
Chylomicron	102,000	45,160	25,840	27,700	507,000	600
VLDL	15,656	4,445	3,539	3,600	11,500	200
LDL	4,830	653	475	1,310	298	95.9
HDL	961	51	1.2	8	8.3	37.5

3.2.1 Lipoprotein classification

Lipoproteins are classified in 5 major classes based on their relative densities as shown in Figure 3.3.

3.2.1.1 Chylomicron (CM)

Chylomicron is the largest diameter and the lowest density of lipoproteins. This particle is mostly composed of 80-88% (w/w) triglycerides and represented protein content less than 3% (w/w). However, mostly protein in this particle is apolipoprotein B48 (apo B48). Chylomicron is generated from absorb dietary lipid that esterifies to form fatty acid in the intestinal mucosa cell. Fatty acids are incorporated into triglyceride and packed with phospholipid choresterol ester, choresterol, and apo B48 to form chylomicron. This particle is secreted into the

intestinal lymph and delivered directly to the blood circulation. Lipoprotein lipase (LPL) hydrolyzed triglyceride in chylomicron and the particle remnant is processed by the liver via specific receptor. Additionally, chylomicron contains apolipoprotein A1 (apo A1) which is almost immediately transfers to the HDL particle when chylomicron reaches the circulation (31).

3.2.1.2 Very low density lipoprotein (VLDL)

Very low density lipoprotein is mostly composed of triglycerides 45-50% (w/w) and also has free and unesterified cholesterol. VLDL contains a single intact apo B protein. This particle is produced and released by the liver. The removal of triglyceride content in VLDL is activated by LPL. This molecule is a transporter of cholesterol and triglyceride from the liver to organs and tissues in the body (31).

3.2.1.3 Intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL)

Intermediate density lipoprotein is the product from VLDL catabolism by the activity of LPL. IDL is smaller than VLDL particle. IDL combines with cholesterol, triglyceride, and apolipoprotein B (apo B) that circulates through the body and transports cholesterol throughout the body. IDL particle is rapidly removed from blood circulation by the liver and receptor pathway. Moreover, this particle can be further degraded to LDL particle (34).

3.2.1.4 Low density lipoprotein (LDL)

Low density lipoprotein is the major transporter cholesterol from the liver to tissues and account for 70-80% of the circulating cholesterol in human (35). LDL particle is a stable product from VLDL catabolism that composed of triglyceride, cholesterol ester, unesterified cholesterol, and phospholipid. This particle contains a single molecule of apolipoprotein B100 (apo B100) which is the major protein component of LDL. In addition, LDL particle is the major risk factor of cardiovascular disease that can be produced the formation of plaque in the arterial wall (31).

3.2.1.5 High density lipoprotein (HDL)

High density lipoprotein is the smallest diameter of the lipoproteins and the highest protein component. It contains a large number of different apolipoproteins including apo A1, apo A2, apo C1, apo C2, apo D, and apo E. This particle is produced in the liver and the intestine and acted like a scavenger of cholesterol. The role of HDL is the unesterified cholesterol transporter from the peripheral tissue to the liver. Additionally, HDL is an antioxidant to protect against LDL oxidation and reduce the risk factor of atherosclerosis (31, 38).



Figure 3.3 The density and size-distribution of the major lipoprotein classes (33). Lipoproteins are classified into 5 major classes by density that composed of chylomicron, VLDL, IDL, LDL, and HDL.

3.2.2 Apolipoprotein

Apolipoprotein is a protein that is attached to the surface of lipid or cholesterol to form lipoprotein. It is regularly synthesis in the intestine by fat content of the diet. The function of apolipoprotein is transport cholesterol and triglyceride in the blood circulation. They act as ligand for specific interaction receptor and act as coenzyme which is activator or inhibitor of specific enzyme. Additionally, an apolipoprotein is directly responsed for lipoprotein to its correct destination in the body. There are many types of apolipoprotein that are found on the different classes of lipoprotein. For example, apolipoprotein A1 (apo A1) which is found on virtually all HDL and apolipoprotein B (apo B) is the major protein of chylomicron, VLDL, IDL, and LDL as shown in Table 3.3.

Apolipoprotein	Primary Source	Lipoprotein Association	Function	
Amo A 1	Intesting Liver	UDL shylomiston	Structural protein for	
Аро АТ	Intestine, Liver	HDL, chylomicron	HDL, Activates LCAT	
Ano A2	Liver	HDL chylomicron	Structural protein for	
Apo A2	Liver	TIDE, enviolmeron	HDL	
Apo A4	Intestine	HDL, chylomicron	Activates LCAT	
			Promotes LPL-	
Apo A5	Liver	VLDL, chylomicron	mediated triglyceride	
			lipolysis	
Ano P /9	Intesting	Chulomieron	Structural protein for	
Аро в48	Intestine	Chylonneron	chylomicron	
			Structural protein for	
	Liver	VLDL, IDL, LDL, Lp(a)	VLDL, LDL, IDL, and	
Apo B100			Lp(a), Ligand for	
			binding to LDL	
			receptor	
Apo C1	Liver	Chylomicron, VLDL, HDL	Activates LCAT	
Apo C2	Liver	Chylomicron, VLDL, HDL	Cofactor for LPL	
Apo C3	Liver	Chylomicron VI DI HDI	Inhibits lipoprotein	
74p0 C3	Liver	Chylonneron, VLDL, HDL	binding to receptor	
Ano D	Spleen, Brain,	НЛ	Many postulation	
Apo D	Testes, Adrenal	IIDL	Wany postulation	
Apo F	Liver	Chylomicron remnant, IDL,	Ligand for binding to	
THO L		HDL	LDL receptor	
Apo H	Liver	Chylomicron, VLDL, LDL,	Be glycoprotein I	
14011		HDL		

Table 3.3Major apolipoprotein (31, 33)

3.2.3 The role of low density lipoprotein

Low density lipoprotein (LDL) is the major cholesterol transporter in the human circulation. It can promote atherosclerosis due to forming of fatty deposits in the arterial wall. LDL originates from VLDL that synthesizes and releases by the liver. VLDL is converted to LDL by the activity of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), an enzyme that hydrolyzes triglyceride in VLDL and releases free fatty acid. The removal of triglyceride from VLDL by LPL leaving a greater proportion of cholesterol, increasing the density of particle, and changing it to LDL as shown in Figure 3.4. LDL particle is uptaken by cells via LDL receptor and nonspecific endocytosis. In addition, LDL binds to LDL receptor which is presented on the surface of the most cells. The highest concentration of LDL receptor is found in the liver and the three quarter of LDL is removed from the blood circulation by the liver (14).



Figure 3.4 The metabolism pathway of LDL (36). LDL originates from VLDL catabolism that hydrolyzed triglyceride by lipoprotein lipase (LPL).

LDL molecules are large spherical particle with an average diameter of 22 nm and have the density limit of 1.019-1.063 g/ml. The structure of LDL particles consist of a core that including 170 triglyceride and 1,600 cholesteryl ester molecules. This core is surrounded by a surface monolayer composed of about 700 phospholipid molecules and 600 molecules of unesterified cholesterol (37). In addition, the LDL particle contains a large protein that is embedded in the outer surface, called apolipoprotein B100 (apo B100). This protein embraces on the whole surface of the LDL particle. It does not sit like a cap on the LDL particle, but it looks like an octopus (14) as shown in Figure 3.5. The apo B100 is a large protein consisting of 4,536 amino acids. The main phospholipid components of LDL are composed of 450 phosphatidylcholine (PC) and 185 sphingomyelin (SM) molecules. In addition, LDL particle contains 80 lysophosphatidylcholine (lyso-PC) and 10 phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) molecules (14, 37). LDL particle also carries polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), mainly linoleic acid with less amount of arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid (38). Moreover, PUFAs are protected against free radical and oxidation by antioxidants, mostly α -tocopherol (6 molecules/LDL particle) with minor amounts of γ -tocopherol, carotenoid, oxycarotenoid, and ubiquinol-10 (14).

In healthy people, the plasma LDL concentration is about 3 mg/ml circulates in the bloodstream for about 2 days before they are cleared (14). Accordingly, high plasma LDL in circulation is possible to the formation of plaque in the intima layer of the arterial wall refers to atherosclerosis. The formation of plaque is produced from the modification of LDL components called oxidized LDL (OxLDL) which is one of major risk factor in atherosclerosis.

Fac. of Grad. Studies, Mahidol Univ.



Figure 3.5 Structure of LDL composed of triglyceride, cholesteryl ester, phospholipid, unesterified cholesterol, and apo B100 (37).

3.3 Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein

Oxidized low density lipoprotein (OxLDL) or oxidatively modified LDL is a major risk factor in atherosclerosis. It is generated by variety modification of LDL in lipid and protein component. Therefore, OxLDL is an important atherogenesis contributor in the arterial wall. The oxidation of LDL occurs when free radicals or enzymatic oxidation such as myeloperoxidase and lipoxygenase which induced lipid peroxidation and protein changed in LDL become to OxLDL (2). In generally, oxidation of LDL occurs in intima layer or subendothelial space of the arterial wall rather than in circulation according to in the circulation has a strongly enriched in antioxidants (39). However, fully oxidized LDL has a very short half-life in plasma because it is rapidly remove from the circulation by reticuloendothelial system (40). The small amounts of OxLDL (minimally modified LDL) represent in plasma. In addition, OxLDL autoantibodies and soluble immune complexes are indirect markers of OxLDL which are presented in the circulation (15). The major chemical and physicochemical of OxLDL undergo oxidative changes was shown in Table 3.4. In addition, the biological properties of OxLDL were shown in Table 3.5.

Oxidative modification of LDL in the arterial wall, it is uptaken via scavenger receptors through monocyte-derived macrophages leading to the accumulation of foam cell in atherosclerotic lesions (41). The accumulation of foam cells which induced fatty steak formation, called formation of plaque. After that, the plaque ruptures to thrombosis due to cause of cardiovascular disease. Therefore, OxLDL represents in the early state of atherogenesis.

Table 3.4 The major chemical and physicochemical of OxLDL undergo oxidative changes (14)

	Chemical and Physicochemical Properties
• (Complete loss of antioxidants
• N	More or less complete loss of PUFAs
• I	Loss of phosphatidyl choline and cholesteryl ester
• I	ncreased content of lysophosphatidyl choline and oxysterols
• I	ncreased content of hydroxy- and hydroperoxy-PUFAs
• I	ncreased content of conjugated dienes
• I	ncreased content of MDA, hexanal, HNE, and other aldehydes
• \$	Strong fluorescence at 430 nm with excitation at 360 nm
• F	Partial loss of free amino groups in apo B
• F	Fragmentation of apo B to smaller peptides
• N	MDA and HNE epitopes on apo B recognized by specific antibodies
• I	ncreased electrophoretic mobility and increased density (1.06-1.08)
• I	ncreased tendency to aggregate heterogeneity in size
• (Conformational rearrangement of apo B structure and phospholipid
n	nonolayer

Fac. of Grad. Studies, Mahidol Univ.

 Table 3.5
 The biological properties of OxLDL (14)

Biological Properties
Increases uptake and degradation by macrophages
• Cytotoxic to most cells
Chemotactic for monocytes and smooth muscle cells
Inhibits NO activation of guanylatecyclase
• Inhibits in isolated smooth muscle strips relaxation induced by acetyl
choline, nitric oxide, and nitroglycerin
• Increases in cultured endothelial cells tissue factor activity (TF) and
suppresses protein C (which increases thromboresistance) activity
• Suppresses the production of PDGF-mRNA and PDGF secretion by
monocyte-macrophages
• Increases in macrophages glutathione content about two fold; HNE has a
similar effect
• Systemic administration into hamsters causes immediate leukocyte adhesion
to capillary endothelium
• Treatment of cultured endothelial cells with MM-LDL stimulates production
of a number of biological active factors, such as monocyte chemotactic
factor, MCP-1; monocyte binding molecules (so-called endothelial-
leukocyte-adhesion-molecules, ELAMs); growth factors for monocytes, M-
CSF, and granulocytes, G-CSF, and tissue factors (TF) essential for
coagulation.
• MM-LDL injected into mice increases in serum and tissue levels of MCP-1
and CSF
• MM-LDL inhibits mitogenesis in SMC and stimulates (low concentration) or
inhibits PGI2 synthesis in SMC

3.3.1 Mechanisms of LDL oxidation

LDL can be oxidized by non-enzymatically such as free radicals, metal ions and other catalysts (2). LDL can be also oxidized by oxidizing enzymes such as lipoxygenase and myeloperoxidase. However, all of these mechanisms can be converted LDL to OxLDL which is involved in pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.

3.3.1.1 Metal ions

LDL can be modified by metal ions (e.g., Cu^{2+} and Fe^{2+}) that occurred in 3 phases including an initial lag phase (consumption of endogenous antioxidant), a propagation phase (rapid oxidation of unsaturated fatty acid to lipid hydroperoxides) and a decomposition phase (hydroperoxides are converted to reactive aldehyde). The primary product of lipid peroxidation consists of a variety of different aldehydes such as malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE). All of aldehyde products, they undergoes carbon-carbon bond cleavage in the presence of transition metals forming short chain unesterified aldehyde. In addition, when LDL is incubated with iron, the formation of hydroperoxides and aldehydes are enhanced as increased cysteine concentration lead to the generation of oxygen-or sulfur-centered free radicals (2, 38, 42).

3.3.1.2 Reactive species

Reactive species are atoms or molecules that are generated by enzymatic and chemical interactions. There are three main classes of reactive species including reactive nitrogen species (RNS), reactive chloride species (RCS), and reactive oxygen species (ROS). However, each class remains free radical that has one or more unpaired electron. The highly reactive can cause lipoprotein damage to modified lipoprotein, it is involved in atherosclerosis. LDL is oxidized by reactive nitrogen species. In addition, nitric oxide (NO) is a stable radical that releases by various vascular cells and it can inhibit lipid peroxidation. NO fails to oxidize LDL but it is rapidly inactivated by superoxide anion to form peroxynitrite which is promoted in LDL oxidation (43). Moreover, oxidation of LDL by reactive oxygen species can be removed a H⁺ from a double bond in PUFA and the molecule is rearranged by ROS resulting in the formation of conjugated double bonds called conjugated dienes (CD) (14, 38, 44).

3.3.1.3 Lipoxygenase

Lipoxygenase (LOX) is a non-heme iron containing dioxygenase which is one of intracellular oxidation enzymes. It directly oxygenates polyunsaturated fatty acids to lipid hydroperoxide. In vitro, 15-lipoxygenase directly oxidizes LDL particle and LDL exposed to fibroblasts transfection with the 15lipoxygenase gene that exhibited high level of lipid peroxides. Therefore, the amounts of lipoxygenase in vascular cells are involved in atherogenesis, while the amounts of lipoxygenase in global cells are exerted anti-inflammatory functions (2, 45).

3.3.1.4 Myeloperoxidase

Myeloperoxidase (MPO) is generated from neutrophils and monocytes when phagocytes activated during inflammation. MPO is involved in inflammation and oxidative stress that is linked to pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. This enzyme can be released various reactive species including hypochlorous acid (HOCl), chloramines, tyrosyl radicals, and nitrogen dioxide (NO₂). In addition, HOCl reacts with the ε -amino group of apo B lysine residues, resulting in the formation of N-chloramines. Atherosclerotic lesion has been found reactive species products that are induced by MPO. It interacts with both LDL and HDL to induce oxidation. Although, MPO is more closely associated with inflammation and presented the evidence of MPO role to induce strong oxidants that is found in atherosclerotic plaque as refer in term biomarker of oxidative stress (38, 44, 46).

3.3.1.5 Glycated LDL

Glycation of protein is a complex series of Maillard reaction. It has early phase reactions that are subjected to lysine and NH₂-terminal amino acid residues. The late phase reactions form the advance glycation end product. The nonenzymatic glycation of LDL occurs in lysine residues of apo B which is the major amino acid undergoes glycation, making 2-17% of LDL-lysine glycated. In addition, glucose can enhance LDL peroxidation by oxidative pathway and it raises the possibility of lipoprotein oxidation in chronic hyperglycemia. However, glycation and oxidation take place in vivo concurrently because free radicals can be generated by glycation itself from glucose and Amadori products leading the enhanced susceptibility of glycated LDL to further oxidation (2, 47, 48).



Figure 3.6 Mechanisms of LDL oxidation (2). LDL modified to OxLDL by many mechanisms such as metal ions, lipoxygenase, myeloperoxidase, and free radical. All of these mechanisms occur in the arterial wall. Reprinted from Journal of Clinica Chimica Acta, Vol. 411, Yoshida H, Kisugi R, Mechanisms of LDL oxidation, P.1875-1882, Copyright (2010), with permission from Elsevier (Permission Number: 3120670369665).

3.3.2 Biological products of LDL oxidation

The oxidative modification of LDL undergoes biological activity that generates a variety of new products such as aldehyde products, phospholipid products, and free fatty acid products.

3.3.2.1 Aldehyde products

LDL oxidation can be produced many short-chain aldehyde products that cleavage from unsaturated fatty acid. The major form of aldehyde consists of hydroxynonenal (HNE) and malondialdehyde (MDA). HNE is formed from the degradation of n-6 fatty acid, while MDA is formed from the peroxidation of all unsaturated fatty acid. Aldehydes have relatively contribution to cell death. In addition, MDA can be measured by thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay which is the most widely used for measuring lipid peroxidation (13, 40).

3.3.2.2 Phospholipid products

The major phospholipid products from LDL oxidation are lysophosphatidylcholine (LPC) and lysophosphatidic acid (LPA). LPC is one of the first components of OxLDL that presents at low concentration in normal LDL. The majority of LPC in OxLDL is formed from the action of Ca^{2+} -independent lipoprotein-associated Phospholipase A2 (PLA2) that efficiently hydrolyzes the oxidized acyl groups from the *sn*-2 position of phospholipids. LPC is a chemotactic agent for monocytes and help recruit circulating monocytes into the arterial wall. However, LPA is generated from LPC by the action of lysophospholipase D and it is a mitogen that acts through specific G-protein coupled receptors (40). In addition, it has variety phospholipid products such as *sn*-2 short chain 1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (PAPC) products, *sn*-2 epoxy products and PAF-like products (40, 49).

3.3.2.3 Free fatty acid products

The isoprostane derivatives are discovered that a series of structurally unique prostaglandin F_2 (PGF₂)-like compounds (F₂-isoprostanes) are produced in human by a noncyclooxygenase mechanism involving free radicalcatalyzed peroxidation of arachidonic acid. The formation of F₂-isoprostanes is induced in plasma and LDL is exposed to oxidative stress in vitro. Moreover, the release of PGF₂ is increased in LDL oxidation by macrophages, endothelial cells, or copper (7, 40).

3.3.2.4 Oxysterols and cholesteryl ester products

The oxidative modification of LDL can be generated the numerous oxysterols and cholesterol ester products. The major oxysterols are 7 ketocholesterol, 7α -OH, and 7β -OH cholesterol and cholesterol epoxides. The oxysterols are accumulated in atherosclerosis lesions and can exert several biological activities in the arterial cells including apoptosis, cytotoxicity, and regulation of gene expression (40). The majority of the di-and polyunsaturated fatty acids in LDL are presented as cholesterol ester. In addition, the hydroperoxides and hydroxides of cholesteryl ester are the major lipid oxidation products that are found in atherosclerotic lesions (50, 51).

3.3.2.5 Products of apo B modification

Apo B is modified by various functional groups of amino acids such as lysine, cysteine, histidine, tryptophan, and tyrosine (40). The modification of lysine residues of apo B by MDA has been shown the loss of recognition by LDL receptor and the appearance of epitopes for recognition by scavenger receptor (40, 52).

3.3.3 Measurement methods of LDL oxidation

OxLDL is an important biomarker for atherosclerosis progression. It can be monitored the atherosclerosis events. Therefore, there are many detection methods to investigate plasma OxLDL such as TBARS assay, conjugated diene, HPLC, and ELISA (7, 10).

3.3.3.1 Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS)

assay

TBARS assay is the most commonly method that is used to measure LDL oxidation. This method investigated malondialdehyde (MDA) molecule which is an indicator and a secondary product of lipid peroxidation. The chromogen is formed by one molecule of MDA to interact with two molecules of thiobarbituric acid (TBA). This method involves heating under acidic conditions and reading the absorbance of MDA-TBA complex that is formed the formation of pink-colored products at 532 nm with spectrophotometer. TBARS assay can be interfered by other compounds in biological so it is not specific for lipid peroxidation. In addition, several other compounds including sugar, amino acid, and bilirubin are also reactive toward TBA (11, 13, 14).

3.3.3.2 Conjugated diene (CD)

This method is the fundamental measurement method of lipid peroxidation similar to TBARS assay. The peroxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acid is accompanied by the formation of conjugated dienesthat absorbs ultraviolet light at 234 nm. The reaction occurs in three phases including, lag phase, propagation phase, and decomposition phase. This method is the mostly used to monitor oxidation of LDL in vitro. It is rapid and simple to perform with instruments and generally available in clinical laboratories but it is low limit of detection (7, 53).

3.3.3.3 Electrophoretic mobility

Electrophoretic mobility is a separation technique which is based on the movement of charged particles in an electric field. The electrophoretic mobility of OxLDL is determined by agarose gel electrophoresis. The increasing negatively charges is induced by the oxidation of LDL more than the native LDL leading to electrophoretic mobility increased (44, 54). This method can be interfered by aldehydes modification (7).

3.3.3.4 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)

Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy is a one of method for measuring lipoprotein level. It can be measured the quantification of lipoprotein profiles based on the amplitudes detection of spectral signal emitted by lipoprotein subclasses of different sizes. Each subclass signal leave from the aggregate number of terminal methyl groups on the lipid contained within the particle. For the cholesterol ester and triglyceride in the core each contribute three methyl groups and in the surface, phospholipid and unesterified cholesterol each contribute two methyl groups. It can provide the information of atherogenic lipoprotein profile. This method is used the expensively equipment cost and not suitable in routine work (8, 55).

3.3.3.5 High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)

HPLC is an alternative method for classifies and quantifies lipoprotein on the basis of difference particle sizes. The component analysis of lipoprotein profiles after HPLC can provide useful almost information of the above mentioned atherogenic lipoprotein subclasses. It can be applied to measure OxLDL product such as aldehydes and conjugated dienes. This method can be detected in lipoprotein fraction but it has inconvenience in clinical laboratory (56, 57).

3.3.3.6 Mass spectrometry (MS)

Mass spectrometry is one of the most powerful devices to identify posttranslational modification of protein. It has been demonstrated the determination of stable oxidative product in protein. This method can be identified the oxidation pattern of apo B100 in LDL and other lipoproteins. In addition, this method is used to measure other product of OxLDL such as aldehydes. The difficulty in the analysis of modification sites of apo B100 in OxLDL by this technique is complexity of the heterogeneous modifications of the apolipoproteins. Moreover, the sample preparation method for apolipoproteins oxidation in OxLDL should be improved to perform MS-based molecular analysis (9, 13).

3.3.3.7 Fluorescence

The fluorescence is a spectrochemical analytical method for direct quantitation of oxidized lipoprotein by fluorescence spectrometry with excitation in UV or visible range and emission detected at the different wavelength. Fluorescently labeled lipoproteins have provided information on both physical and cellular binding properties of lipoprotein. Fluorescence detection method of lipoproteins has two major dyes including protein marker dyes that fluorochromes are conjugated apolipoproteins through functional groups and lipophilic dyes for lipoprotein analysis. This method is rapid, used small sample volume, and no need any expensive antibodies. However, it is not suitable for routine work since it need the professional worker (7, 58).

3.3.3.8 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The ELISA assay has been used for the qualitative and semiquantitative detection of antibodies to OxLDL in human serum. The development of the specific OxLDL assay is based on monoclonal antibodies recognizing to specific structures including E06, FOH1a/DLH3, and 4E6 (15). The E06 assay represents the measurement of oxidized phospholipids (OxPL)/apo B100 particle (59). The FOH1a/DLH3 assay demonstrates the oxidized phosphatidylcholine epitopes on LDL (60). The 4E6 assay measures an unknown OxLDL epitope, it appears to bind both copper-OxLDL and malondialdehyde (MDA)-LDL epitopes (61). These ELISA assay can be used for measuring the circulation OxLDL in direct clinical sample. This method can indicate the level of plasma OxLDL and it has many commercial kits to detect plasma OxLDL which is available to use. However, it may be not completed in sensitivity and specificity due to the various oxidation-specific epitopes, timeconsuming, and high analytical cost (15, 16).
3.4 Biosensor

The biosensor is an analytical device that combines a biochemical substance with a transducer to convert the biochemical response into electrical signal as shown in Figure 3.7. This device has been used in many fields such as in environment, chemical analysis, food analysis and clinical detection (17, 62). It has many advantages for example, high sensitivity and specificity to target molecule, used small volume of sample and reagent, and portable. The biosensor system consists of two major components: a biological recognition element which is directly response to the selectivity of sensor after the specific binding between target molecule and biological recognition occurs. A transducer can convert the biological signal to the electrical signal (63, 64). Therefore, the important characteristic of biosensor is the selectivity of biological recognition specific for target analyte.



Figure 3.7 A typical biosensor configuration; biological recognition and tranducer modified from Peter et al. (64).

In addition, the biological components are the chemical components of living organism that is used a biochemical mechanism for recognition. There are many types of the biological recognition element including enzymes, antibodies, whole cells, receptors, affinity ligand, peptide, and nucleic acids (65, 66). The biological component can be selective for the analyte target.

Moreover, a transducer is a one important component of biosensor device which is used to convert the interaction changes between biological recognition and target molecule into the electrical signal. Transducer can be classified to four main groups following electrochemical (potentiometry, amperometry or conductimetry), mass (piezoelectric crytal or acoustic wave), heat (colorimetry), and optical change (luminescence, fluorescence, reflective index, surface plasmon resonance, and waveguide) (66).

3.4.1 Piezoelectric quartz crystal – based immunoassay

Piezoelectric immunosensor is a one of advance devices in transducer technology. This transducer converts immunoreaction events into different physical signals and can sense antigen/antibody concentration by direct or indirect changes in transducer output. The direct format determines the measuring physical changes that are induced by the formation of the immune complex and the indirect is a sensitively detectable label that combines with the antibody or antigen of target (67). The piezoelectric crystal device is based on antigen-antibody interactions that can be directly identified by measuring the frequency changes corresponding to the mass changes onto the modified crystal surface. This assay is simple and easy to use (68).

The most commonly piezoelectric device are classified into two classes including surface acoustic wave (SAW) device and quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) device. In a SAW device, it can oscillate at normally frequency above 100 MHz. The electrodes are on the same side of the crystal. Mass loading on the acoustic path between two sets of electrode will alter the phase wave velocity and cause a shift in the frequency. This device is mass sensitive more than piezoelectric because mass sensitivity is directly related to the operating frequency. However, SAW device presents several problems when it is applied to a biological sensing system because biological solutions can severely reduce surface acoustic wave (69). QCM is alternative term that describes the mass sensitivity of the crystal. This system determines the target molecules via the frequency change of quartz crystal after mass deposition on the surface. It is highly mass sensitive device which is not required or labeled reagent for target analyte. The QCM device has been applied for bioanalytical assay such as bacteria and virus, protein, nucleic acids, and small molecules (70).

The QCM device consists of a quartz crystal wafer sandwiched between two metal electrodes. The electrodes are provided to connect the device to external oscillator circuit that measured its resonant frequency. The quartz crystal is a crystalline form of silicon dioxide (SiO₂) which is abundant in the nature. For the majority of piezoelectric work, piezoelectric quartz sheets are made from AT-cut (at $+35^{\circ}15'$ angle from the z-axis of quartz wafer) that are stable property with a zero temperature coefficient between 10-50°C and operated at 5-30 MHz (71, 72). The most commonly used crystals are 5-15 MH with a quartz disks at 10-16 mm diameter (63). The quartz crystal surfaces are covered with metal electrode such as gold and silver and prepared by thermal evaporation onto the quartz surface. Major function of the electrode transform electron via applied voltage to the crystal. In addition, the function of electrode is used as immobilization area for affinity interaction between biological recognition and specific target. Figure 3.8 was shown the structure of QCM.



Figure 3.8 Piezoelectric quartz crystal structures; metal electrodes, quartz plate, wire holders, and contacts modified from Petr (70).

The piezoelectric device is a mass sensing, when the mass on the crystal surface changes thus the resonant frequency of QCM device changes. Therefore, the relationship between the resonant frequency shift and surface mass change of this device can be described by the Sauerbrey's equation. This equation discovered by Sauerbrey which is as a principle of QCM that is shown the increasing of mass on the sensor surface resulting in the frequency of vibration decreases.

In gas phase, the relationship of resonant frequency shift and the mass loading on the surface of the crystal is given by Sauerbrey's equation as following below (68):

$$\Delta F = -2F_0^2 \Delta m / A(\rho_q \mu_q)^{1/2}$$

Where;

ΔF	=	measured frequency shift in hertz
$F_{\rm o}{}^2$	=	the fundamental resonant frequency of the crystal in hertz
Δm	=	mass change in gram
Α	=	piezoelectric active area (area of electrode surface) in \mbox{cm}^2
μ_q	=	shear modulus of quartz = $2.947 \times 10^{11} \text{ g/cm}^2$
$ ho_q$	=	density of quartz = 2.648 g/cm^3

For an AT-cut crystal, the equation can be simplified as:

$$\Delta F = -2.27 \times 10^{-6} F_0^2 \Delta m/A$$

Where;

ΔF	=	measured frequency shift in hertz
$F_{ m o}{}^2$	=	the fundamental resonant frequency of the crystal in hertz
Δm	=	mass change in gram
Α	=	piezoelectric active area (area of electrode surface) in cm ²

This Sauerbrey's equation is capable to only gas phase mass deposition. In addition, the QCM in liquid phase has been developed. In liquid phase has been proposed a new theory to interpret the resonant frequency shifts due to liquid properties such as conductivity, viscosity, density, and dielectric constant.

In liquid phase, the relationship between the frequency change and the mass change of quartz in solution has been reported by the Kanazawa and Gordon's equation as shown below (68, 73):

$$\Delta F = -F_0^{3/2} (\rho_{\rm L} \eta_{\rm L} / \pi \rho_{\rm q} \mu_{\rm q})^{1/2}$$

Where;

ΔF	=	measured frequency shift
$f_{\rm o}^{\ 2}$	=	the fundamental resonant frequency of the crystal
ρ_L	=	density of the liquid
η_L	=	viscosity of the liquid
μ_q	=	shear modulus of quartz
$ ho_q$	=	density of quartz

3.4.2 Immobilization techniques

In biosensor devices, the immobilization plays an important role step for biosensor fabrication. This step has been used to immobilize the biological element onto the sensor surface. There are many immobilization techniques in biosensor that can be classified into main groups as shown in Figure 3.9.

3.4.2.1 Adsorption

This technique is the simplest non-covalent method and easy to prepare but the bonding of the immobilization is weak (74). The physical absorption is involved the formation of Van der Waals bonds, hydrophobic, and hydrogen bonding (75).

3.4.2.2 Microencapsulation

This method is performed by the biological molecules that are held in place behind a membrane, giving close contact between the biological molecules and the transducer. It can be permeable to small molecules, gas molecules, and electrons (76).

3.4.2.3 Entrapment

The movement of target molecule is restricted by the polymeric gel. The gel is prepared in a solution which containing the biological molecules and trapped within in the gel matrix. It can be loss of bioactivity through pores in the gel (76).

3.4.2.4 Cross-linking

The biological molecules in this method can link to supporting materials by cross-linking agents. The common cross-linking agents are

glutaraldehyde, hexamethylenediisocyanate, disuccinyl substrate, and N-gammamelaimidobutyroxy succinimide ester (74). It can damage the biological molecules.

3.4.2.5 Covalent bonding

The nucleophilic groups such as NH_2 , COOH, OH_3 , C_6H_4OH , and imidazole are utilized for coupling by covalently bonded to the transducer. Carbodiimide, glutaraldehyde, and succinimide derivatives are general used for covalent binding method. This method can improve uniformity, density, distribution of bound molecules, and reproducibility of surface (77).



Figure 3.9 Schematic diagram of immobilization method in biosensor modified from Brian (76).

3.4.3 Self-assembled monolayer

The self-assembled monolayer (SAM) is one of immobilization technique by covalent binding. This method is commonly used in the biosensor devices for inducing the SAM formation by the strong chemisorptions between the substrate and head group of selected organic molecule. It provides one of the most elegant approaches towards making ultrathin organic films of controlled thickness. In addition, SAM is a molecular assembly method that immerses an appropriate substrate into a solution for specific with the surface. SAM is distinguished from ordinary surfactant monolayer. In fact, one end of the molecule is designed to have a favorable and specific interaction with the solid surface of the substrate. And the one end of molecule is also designed the specific binding for the target molecule. It is easy formation of ordered, pinhole free and stable monolayer. This method is easy and compatibility with metal substrate such as gold or silver provided benefits for biosensor application. Moreover, disulfides, sulfides, or thiols bond are occurred very strongly onto the metal substrate. Thiols on gold are formed very well-assembled monolayer which is highly resistant to wash due to the strong chemisorptions of the surface atoms. It is a rapid reaction between –SH group and gold atom with formation of S-Au bond. For the various alkanethiol agents are performed in SAM system such as mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) and mercaptoundecanoic acid (78-80).

This SAM method is a successfully used in many previous studies. For example, Zhou et al. (81) compared different immobilization methods and different immobilization architectures by self-assembling monolayer. Caruso et al. (82) immobilized oligonucleotides directly on the gold quartz crystal by forming selfassembled monolayer and also used biotin-oligonucleotide to immobilize them on avidin-modifide gold quartz crystal.

CHAPTER IV MATERIALS AND METHODS

This chapter demonstrated the materials and methods that were used in this study. The materials section consisted of instruments, chemical reagents, and reagent preparation. The methods section included oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL) preparation, the measurement system and OxLDL immunosensor preparation, OxLDL immunosensor system optimization, and OxLDL immunosensor performance evaluation.

4.1 Materials

This section described the details of instruments, chemicals, and reagents preparation that were used in this study.

4.1.1 Instruments, chemicals, and reagents

The detail of instruments, chemicals, and reagents was shown in the Table 4.1: The list of instruments and Table 4.2: The list of chemicals and reagents.

Table 4.1List of instruments

Instrument Name	Company	Country	
Analytical balance			
- XT 220A	Precisa Instruments Ltd.	Switzerland	
- XT 2200C			
Autoclave, Hiclave HV-85	Hirayama	Japan	
Automatic pipettes			
- 1-10 μl			
- 2-20 μl	Gilson	France	
- 20-200 μl			
- 100-1,000 μl			
Centrifuge, 420101	Clay-Adams Dynac	USA	
Desiccators	Nikko	Japan	
Disposable syringes			
- 10 ml	Nipro (Thailand)	Thailand	
- 20 ml			
Fume hood, Ascent TM Max	Esco Ductless	USA	
Incubators	Binder	USA	
pH meter, 420A	Thermo	USA	
Quartz crystal silver electrodes		Thailand	
(10 MHz AT-cut) with 9 mm in	Kyocera-Kinseki		
diameter			
Research Quartz Crystal	MANTER Inc	USA	
Microbalance (RQCM)	MAATEN IIK.		
Spectrophotometer, Genesys 20	Thermo	USA	
Syringe pump, Multi-Phaser TM	New Era Pump Systems	LISA	
NE-1000	Inc.		
Vortex mixer, VX 100	Labnet International Inc.	USA	
Water bath	Memmert	Germany	

Table 4.2 List of chemicals and reagents

Reagent Name	Formula	MW	Company	Country
Absolute ethanol	C ₂ H ₆ O	46.07	Merck	Germany
Bovine serum albumin	-	-	Sigma	USA
(BSA)				
1-Butanol	$C_4H_{10}O$	74.12	Sigma	USA
Copper(II) sulfate	CuSO ₄ ·5H ₂ O	249.69	Sigma	USA
pentahydrate				
Ethylenediaminetetra	$C_{10}H_{16}N_2O_8$	292.24	Sigma	USA
acetic acid (EDTA)				
1-Ethyl-3-(3-	C ₈ H ₁₇ N ₃	155.24	Sigma	USA
dimethylaminopropril)				
carbodiimide (EDC)				
Human high density	-	175-360	Millipore	USA
lipoprotein (HDL)		kDa		
Human low density	-	2300 kDa	Millipore	USA
lipoprotein (LDL)				
Human very low	-	-	Millipore	USA
density lipoprotein				
(VLDL)				
Hydrochloric acid	HCl	36.36	Merck	Germany
3-Mercapto propionic	C ₃ H ₆ O ₂ S	106.14	Sigma	USA
acid (MPA)				
N-hydroxysulfo	C ₄ H ₅ NO ₃	115.09	Fluka	Switzerland
succinimide (NHS)				
Polyclonal Anti-Cu ²⁺ -	-	-	Millipore	USA
oxidized low density				
lipoprotein (anti-				
OxLDL)				

Fac. of Grad. Studies, Mahidol Univ.

Reagent Name	Formula	MW	Company	Country
Potassium chloride	KC1	74.56	Merck	Germany
Potassium dihydrogen	KH ₂ PO ₄	136.09	Fluka	Switzerland
phosphate				
Sodium chloride	NaCl	58.44	Merck	Germany
Sodium hydroxide	NaOH	40.00	Merck	Germany
Sodium phosphate	Na ₂ HPO ₄ .	268.07	Merck	Germany
dibasic heptahydrate	$7H_2O$			
1,1,3,3-	C7H16O4	164.20	Sigma	USA
Tetramethoxypropane				
(TMP)				
Thichloroacetic acid	$C_2HCl_3O_2$	163.39	Sigma	USA
(TCA)				
2-Thiobarbituric acid	$C_4H_4 N_2O_2S$	144.15	Sigma	USA
(TBA)				

Table 4.2 List of chemicals and reagents (cont.)

4.1.2 Reagent preparation

All of reagents that were used in this study were described below.

1% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) Solution

One g of BSA was completely dissolved in 100 ml of 10 mM phosphate buffer saline (PBS) pH 7.4. This solution was kept at 4°C until used.

50 µM Copper(II) Sulfate (CuSO₄) Solution

The stock solution of copper sulfate solution was prepared by dissolving 0.002 g of $CuSO_{4.}5H_{2}O$ in 2 ml of distilled water (DW). Then, five μ l of stock solution was added in the DW to obtain the final volume of 500 μ l.

0.25 mM Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid (EDTA) Solution

This EDTA solution was prepared by adding 0.0018 g of EDTA into 25 ml of 10 mM PBS pH 7.4. This solution was kept at 4° C.

200 mM 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropril) Carbodiimide (EDC) Solution

The EDC at the amount of 7.35 μ l was added in DW to get the total volume of 200 μ l. This solution should be fleshly prepared, placed away from direct light source and immediately used after preparation.

Human Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL) solution

The preparation of human LDL at different concentrations (25, 50, 100, 200, 300, 400, and 500 μ g/ml) were performed by pipetting 98 μ l of human LDL and adding 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 to the total volume of 1 ml. This stock solution was diluted to obtain the final concentration of 25 μ g/ml and then kept in 4°C.

1 M Hydrochloric Acid (HCl) Solution

One M HCl solution can be obtained by adding 8.29 ml of Conc. HCl into DW to get the total volume of 100 ml. This solution was kept at room temperature (RT).

10 mM 3-Mercaptopropionic Acid (MPA) Solution

The MPA at the amount of 8.8 μ l of was added in the absolute ethanol to get the total volume of 10 ml. This solution should be kept away from light.

50 mM N-Hydroxysulfosuccinimide (NHS) Solution

This NHS solution was 0.0012 g of was dissolved in 200 μ l of DW. It should be prepared shortly before use and kept away from light.

0.1 M Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) pH 7.4

One-tenth M PBS solution pH 7.4 was prepared by dissolving 80 g of sodium chloride (NaCl), 2 g of potassium chloride (KCl), 11.5 g of sodium phosphate dibasic heptahydrate (Na₂HPO₄.7H₂O), and 2 g of potassium dihydrogen phosphate (KH₂PO₄) in 900 ml of DW. This buffer was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1 M HCl. The total volume of solution was adjusted to 1 l with DW.

10 mM Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) pH 7.4

One hundred ml of 0.1 M PBS pH 7.4 was mixed in 900 ml of DW to the final volume of 1 l. Then, it was adjusted to pH 7.4 with 1M HCl solution.

Polyclonal Anti-Cu²⁺-Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein (anti-OxLDL) Solution

The different concentrations of anti-OxLDL (10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 μ g/ml) were prepared by pipetting 5 μ l of anti-OxLDL to the 450 μ l of DW. Two fold serial dilutions were carried out to obtain the final concentration at 10 μ g/ml. This solution was kept in freezer at -20°C.

1 M Sodium Hydroxide (NaOH) Solution

One g of NaOH was dissolved in 25 ml of DW. This solution was kept at room temperature.

Standard 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (TMP) Solution

The stock standard TMP solution was prepared by pipetting 10 μ l of standard TMP to the 990 μ l of DW and performed 10 times dilution to get the final concentration of 60 μ mole/l. Then, the working standard solution at the concentration 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 μ mole/l were prepared by two fold serial dilution.

1.22 M Thichloroacetic Acid (TCA) Solution

The 19.92 g TCA was dissolved in DW. Then, it was mixed with 60 ml of 1 M HCl and adjusted to the total volume of 100 ml with DW. This solution was kept at 4° C.

4.6 mM Thiobarbituric Acid (TBA) Solution

A quarter g of TBA was dissolved in 1 M NaOH 3 ml. Then, it was added into DW to get the final volume of 37.5 ml. This solution was kept at 4°C.

4.2 Methods

This section consisted of the experimental processes in this study. The first experiment was the oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL) preparation by using copper ion. The second experiment was aimed to prepare the measurement system and OxLDL immunosensor. The third experiment was the optimization condition of OxLDL immunosensor in liquid phase. The evaluation the performance of OxLDL immunosensor in liquid phase was the last experiment in this study.

4.2.1 The oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL) preparation

The OxLDL particles as target antigen of OxLDL immunosensor were prepared by the oxidation of LDL using copper ion. One hundred μ g/ml human LDL was oxidized by incubation with 50 μ M CuSO₄ at 37°C for 24 h and the reaction was terminated by adding 0.25 mM EDTA at RT for 15 min. The amount of oxidative modification of LDL was determined by thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) assay (11) as shown in Figure 4.1. The pink-colored product of this reaction was measured with spectrophotometer at the wavelength of 532 nm as shown in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.1 A schematic diagram of OxLDL preparation



Figure 4.2 A schematic diagram of TBARS assay

4.2.2 The measurement system and OxLDL immunosensor preparation

The silver-electrode quartz crystal (AT-cut, 10 MHz, 9 mm in diameter) was embedded into flow cell as shown in Figure 4.3 and connected to the syringe pump system. Quartz crystal in each experiment was monitored it's resonant frequency shift using research quartz crystal microbalance (RQCM) resonant frequency counter from Maxtek Inc., USA as shown in Figure 4.4. The optimal flow rate of this flow-through system was performed by applying 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 for 30 min at different flow rate of 30, 60, 120, 180, 300, and 500 μ l/min. The resonant frequency shift of quartz crystal was recorded by a RQCM.



Figure 4.3 The construction of flow cell



Figure 4.4 A schematic of measuring system setup (1 = RQCM, 2 = syringe pump, and 3 = flow cell)

Anti-OxLDL was immobilized by using covalent binding method via selfassembled monolayer (SAM) as shown in Figure 4.5. The electrode surface modification method was previously described by Chunta, S. (83). The cleaned silver electrode surface of 10 MHz quartz crystal was immersed into 10 mM 3mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) at RT for 30 mins for SAM formation. Then, both sides of the electrode surface were rinsed with absolute ethanol and DW to remove some excess thiol. Monolayer surface was activated the carboxylic group of MPA and with antibody by adding 5 µl of 200 mM 1-Ethyl-3-(3interacted dimethylaminopropril) carbodiimide (EDC) solution and 50 mМ Nhydroxysulfosuccinimide (NHS) solution for 30 mins at RT. These solutions were placed over the only one side of surface electrode and kept in the dark moist chamber. This modified quartz surface was then rinsed with DW and embedded into flow cell of RQCM system. In addition, the modified quartz surface was finished in gas phase and anti-OxLDL immobilization was ready to operate in liquid phase. The performance of piezoelectric immunosensor in liquid phase was represented the real time detection system by RQCM.



Figure 4.5 A schematic model for anti-OxLDL immobilization on silver electrode of piezoelectric quartz crystal

After the electrode surface of quartz crystal was modified with MPA and embedded into flow cell as shown in Figure 4.3. The one side of the modified crystal surface should be contacted the solution during assay. The flow-through system was started after warming up the device for 30 to 60 mins. Then, 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 was flown through flow cell by syringe pump for 30 mins under flow rate at 60 µl/min. The PBS buffer was used as a baseline solution. Next, anti-OxLDL was injected into flow cell by syringe pump. The injected antibody was stopped and then stood for 30 mins. The excess antibody was washed out with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4. The immobilization of anti-OxLDL was applied with 1% BSA for 15 mins to block the remaining potential reactive surface and then washed out with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 for 15 mins. After washing out the blocking agent with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4, the frequency shift of quartz crystal (F_0) was measured as baseline signal. Next, OxLDL solution was injected into flow cell and incubated for 30 mins without flow. The excess OxLDL was washed out with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4. After washing out the excess OxLDL, the frequency shift of quartz crystal was measured (F_1) . Finally, the association between anti-OxLDL with OxLDL solution was evaluated by subtraction the frequency shift from baseline. The schematic diagram of OxLDL immunosensor preparation was shown in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6 A schematic diagram of OxLDL immunosensor preparation

4.2.3 OxLDL immunosensor system optimization

This experiment was aimed to perform the optimal condition of liquid phase system including optimal concentration, incubation time, and binding ability of antibody in the OxLDL immunosensor.

4.2.3.1 Immobilization of anti-OxLDL

The anti-OxLDL at 10, 20, 50, 100, and 200 µg/ml was injected into flow cell by syringe pump. The flow-through system of each anti-OxLDL solution was stopped and incubated for 30 mins. The frequency shift of anti-OxLDL immobilization was monitored and recorded by RQCM system after washed out the excess anti-OxLDL with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4.

The optimal incubation time of anti-OxLDL immobilization was performed by injection of 100 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL solution into flow cell. The

flow-through system was stopped and then stood for 15, 30, 45, and 60 mins, respectively. The frequency shift was monitored by RQCM system.

4.2.3.2 Binding ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosensor

surface

The binding ability of immobilized anti-OxLDL was demonstrated by the resonant frequency shift during the interaction between anti-OxLDL and OxLDL. Each immobilized anti-OxLDL at 20, 50, 100, and 150 μ g/ml was applied with 1% BSA solution for 15 mins to prevent the interaction ability of possible vacant space on sensor surface. The resonant frequency shift of modified quartz crystal was measured as baseline signal after washed out the blocking agent. Four μ mole/L OxLDL was injected into flow cell by syringe pump after washing out the excess BSA solution with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 for 30 mins without flow. The resonant frequency shift was recorded after washed out the excess OxLDL with PBS buffer pH 7.4.

4.2.4 OxLDL immunosensor performance evaluation

This experiment was purposed to evaluate the performance of OxLDL immunosensor in term of detection range, accuracy, precision, sensitivity, and specificity.

4.2.4.1 Dose response curve

One hundred μ g/ml anti-OxLDL was used as an immunological recognition element of this OxLDL immunosensor. Each concentration of OxLDL solution (0.52, 1.12, 1.88, and 3.11 μ mole/l) was injected into flow cell over the immobilized quartz crystal surface. The dose response curve and limit of detection of this system was generated by plotting the resonant frequency shift of various OxLDL concentrations.

4.2.4.2 Accuracy

The expectation test was performed to estimate the accuracy of OxLDL immunosensor by mixing technique. OxLDL solutions at the concentrations of 0.67 and 1.45 μ mole/l were prepared by mixing 0.57 μ mole/l OxLDL solution into 0.79 and 2.36 μ mole/l OxLDL solution with a ratio 1:1, respectively. Two groups of OxLDL immunosensor were fabricated for measuring the amount of OxLDL solution

in both samples. The accuracy of this assay was calculated from found value and expected concentration of OxLDL solution.

4.2.4.3 Precision

The precision test was performed in two experiments; withinrun precision test (intra-assay) and between-day precision test (inter-assay).

4.2.4.3.1 Within-run precision test

Within-run precision test was performed by performing 3 times testing in 1 day under the repeatability conditions including same measuring instrument, same measurement procedure, same observer, same conditions, and same location. Three pieces of OxLDL immunosensor were prepared for measuring the OxLDL solution at the concentration of 3 μ mole/l. Each resonant frequency shift was converted to the OxLDL concentration by comparing with the frequency shift obtained from standard curve of OxLDL solution. Mean, standard deviation (S.D.), and coefficient of variation (C.V.) were calculated.

4.2.4.3.2 Between-day precision test

The one piece of OxLDL immunosensor was fabricated for measuring the OxLDL solution at the concentration of 3 μ mole/l in the same manner on 20 consecutive days. The resonant frequency shift of each test was compared with the frequency shift obtained from standard curve of OxLDL solution to get the OxLDL concentration. Mean, S.D., and C.V. were calculated.

4.2.4.4 Interference of the OxLDL immunosensor

High density lipoprotein (HDL), very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), and low density lipoprotein (LDL) as the suspected interference were commonly found in serum. Moreover, it is possibly interfered the OxLDL detection. Therefore, these lipoproteins were used to evaluate the specificity of OxLDL immunosensor. The suspected interferences were measured by using OxLDL immunosenser under the same condition.

CHAPTER V RESULTS

This chapter presented the results from the experiments that were conducted based on materials and methods described in chapter IV. The result consisted of four parts. The first part showed the result of oxidative modification of LDL preparation. The second part explained the measurement system and OxLDL immunosensor preparation. The third part showed the result of the optimal condition of OxLDL immunosensor. And the last part described the performance of OxLDL immunosensor.

5.1 The Oxidative Modification of LDL (OxLDL) Preparation

The objective of this experiment was to prepare OxLDL particles that were referred as the target antigen of OxLDL immunosensor. The oxidative modification of LDL was generated by inducing LDL oxidation with copper ion and measured its product with thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) assay. Malondialdehyde (MDA) is a secondary product from lipid peroxidation that refers to OxLDL in this experiment. MDA can be reacted with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) to form MDA-TBA complex which is the product of lipid peroxidation. 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (TMP) was used as a standard solution for establishing the standard curve of TBARS assay. In addition, the amount of OxLDL from oxidative modification of LDL could be figured out from standard curve of TMP were shown in Figure 5.1.



Figure 5.1 The relationship between 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (TMP) concentration (μ mole/l) and the absorbance at 532 nm were measured by TBARS assay for calculating the concentration of OxLDL (n = 3).

From Figure 5.1, standard curve of TMP was utilized to calculate the amount of OxLDL after the oxidative modification of LDL. This result was reliable for determinating of OxLDL concentration due to the Coefficient of Determination (R^2) of this experiment was 0. 9988.

Next, the human LDL at different concentration was incubated with copper ion at 37°C for 24 h and measured the amount of OxLDL concentration by TBARS assay with spectrophotometry. The result showed that 25 to 500 μ g/ml human LDL were successfully oxidized by inducing with copper ion to yield OxLDL. The application at higher concentration tended to produce the same amount of OxLDL concentration that was less than the concentration at 200 μ g/ml as shown in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2 The relationship between concentration of human LDL inducing with $CuSO_4$ at 37°C for 24 h and the concentration of OxLDL from the oxidative modification measured by TBARS assay (n = 3).

5.2 The Measurement System and OxLDL Immunosensor Preparation

The optimal flow rate of this measurement system was performed by PBS buffer pH 7.4 which was driven through flow cell under the different flow rates with syringe pump. The frequency response of the different flow rates were monitored by the frequency counter (RQCM). The flow-through system gave the most stable resonant frequency signal at 60 μ l/min flow rate (Δ F±1 Hz) as shown in Figure 5.3. The higher flow rate up to 300 μ l/min also maintained acceptable signal stability (Δ F±10 Hz) after 10 mins lag time. Therefore, the flow rate at 60 μ l/min was chosen to operate in this measuring system.



Figure 5.3 The signal stability of measurement system was performed by injecting PBS buffer pH 7.4 through the flow cell for 30 min at the different flow rates by syringe pump.

In this study, anti-OxLDL was immobilized by covalent binding method via self-assembled monolayer (SAM). Therefore, the cleaned silver electrode surface was immobilized by assembling MPA onto the quartz crystal surface before immobilizing with anti-OxLDL. The functional group of MPA was activated by EDC/NHS due to the carboxyl group of MPA was reacted with NHS in the coupling solution of EDC/NHS. The NHS ester formed covalent linkage for antibody binding. Then, anti-OxLDL was immobilized onto modified surface of MPA. The sensor surface was flown with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 to remove excess antibody and blocked with 1% BSA to cover the remaining vacant space on the silver surface. Finally, the sensor surface was washed out the excess of blocking agent with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4. The quartz crystal was ready to use as the OxLDL immunosensor for measuring OxLDL as shown in Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4 A schematic model of OxLDL immunosensor preparation showed the immobilization of anti-OxLDL via self-assembled monolayer (SAM) onto modified quartz crystal.

5.3 OxLDL Immunosensor System Optimization

5.3.1 Immobilization of anti-OxLDL

The silver electrode surface was successfully coated with 10 mM MPA. The functional group of MPA was activated by EDC/NHS, resulting in the functional group which formed covalent linkage with primary amine of antibody molecule. The different concentration of anti-OxLDL at 10, 20, 50, 100, and 200 µg/ml was immobilized on the modified quartz crystal surface. The different resonant frequency signal between the resonant frequency of the immobilized-antibody mass (f₁) in different concentration and the original resonant frequency of modified quartz crystal that was flown with 10 mM PBS buffer pH 7.4 (f₀) was obtained as the frequency shift ($\Delta F = f_1 - f_0$). The result showed that the increasing of resonant frequency shift when applying higher concentration of anti-OxLDL as shown in Figure 5.5. The highest resonant frequency shift ($\Delta F = 268 \pm 8.65$ Hz) was obtained from the anti-OxLDL at concentration of 100 µg/ml. The higher concentration did not present significant different frequency shift.



Figure 5.5 The relationship between the concentration of anti-OxLDL and the resonant frequency shift (Hz) of quartz crystal. Anti-OxLDL at concentration of 10-200 μ g/ml were injected into flow cell over sensor surface by syringe pump and stood for 30 mins. The resonant frequency shift after immobilization was monitored by using RQCM (n = 3).

The optimal incubation time of anti-OxLDL immobilization was tested by immobilizing anti-OxLDL at the concentration of 100 μ g/ml in different incubation times (15, 30, 45, and 60 mins). The increasing resonant frequency shift due to the higher incubation time of anti-OxLDL immobilization was shown in Figure 5.6. The incubation time longer than 30 mins did not significantly change the resonant frequency. Therefore, the optimum application time of anti-OxLDL immobilization was 30 mins.



Figure 5.6 The relationship between the incubation time of anti-OxLDL immobilization and the resonant frequency shift (Hz) of quartz crystal. The 100 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL was immobilized on the sensing surface for 15-60 mins and monitored the resonant frequency shift after immobilization by using RQCM.

5.3.2 Binding ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosenser surface

The binding ability of anti-OxLDL was investigated by the interaction between OxLDL particle in tested solution and immobilized anti-OxLDL on immunosenser surface. Four μ mole/l OxLDL was applied on OxLDL immunosensor surface with 20, 50, 100, and 150 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL for 30 mins at room temperature. The different resonant frequency shift was responded due to the anti-OxLDL concentration binding with OxLDL. The 100 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL showed 250 Hz change on the sensor surface as shown in Figure 5.7. The higher anti-OxLDL concentration did not significantly represent the resonant frequency shift. Moreover, the lower amount of anti-OxLDL on the sensor surface gave less resonant frequency shift of interaction binding. Therefore, OxLDL immunosenser with 100 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL was chosen to interact with OxLDL particle in this system.



Figure 5.7 The relationship between the binding ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosensor surface and the resonant frequency shift (Hz) of quartz crystal. The different concentration of anti-OxLDL was injected into flow cell and stood for 30 mins to bind with OxLDL solution. The interaction between OxLDL and anti-OxLDL was monitored by using RQCM (n = 3).

5.4 OxLDL Immunosensor Performance Evaluation

The objective of this experiment was to demonstrate the performance of OxLDL immunosensor in term of detection range, accuracy, precision, and specificity.

5.4.1 Dose response curve

Under the optimal condition, OxLDL immunosensor was fabricated for measuring the amount of OxLDL particle at the concentration of 0.5-3.1 μ mole/l. The concentration of OxLDL particle in μ mole/l was calculated from the standard curve of TMP. A linear correlation that was observed OxLDL concentration as a function of resonant frequency shift was 0.5 μ mole/l to 3.1 μ mole/l as shown in Figure 5.8. The higher concentration of OxLDL (more than 3.1 μ mole/l) did not show the resonant frequency shift due to the oxidation of LDL saturated under 50 μ M CuSO₄ condition. The limit of detection of this assay was 0.5 μ mole/l because the lower concentration of OxLDL (lesser than 0.5 μ mole/l) did not show any the resonant frequency shift. Therefore, the detection range of this system was 0.5 μ mole/l to 3.1 μ mole/l.



Figure 5.8 Dose response curve of OxLDL immunosensor was performed by measurement OxLDL at the concentration of 0.5-3.1 μ mole/l under the optimal condition of OxLDL immunosensor (n = 3).

5.4.2 Accuracy of the assay

Expectation test was studied to evaluate the accuracy of OxLDL immunosensor. The expected values were 102.71% and 91.34% for 0.67 and 1.45 μ mole/l OxLDL, respectively, as shown in Table 5.1. Moreover, the average % expected of this assay was 97.02%.

Table 5.1	Expected v	alues of	OxLDL	detection	by using	OxLDL	immunosensor
-----------	------------	----------	-------	-----------	----------	-------	--------------

OxLDLmixing	Frequency Shift	OxLDLmeasured	Expected value (%)	
(µmole/l)	(Hz)	(µmole/l)		
0.67	282.25	0.69	102.71	
1.45	382.33	1.32	91.34	
	97.02			

5.4.3 Precision of the assay

The concentration of OxLDL solution at 3 μ mole/l was chosen to determine in the precision of this assay. This concentration was measured three and twenty times for determination the intra-assay and inter-assay precision, respectively. The resonant frequency shifts of each test were converted to OxLDL concentration by using the linearity of dose response curve. Coefficients of variation (C.V.) for intra-assay and inter-assay test were 9.37% and 23.04%, respectively, as shown in Table 5.2.

 Table 5.2
 Precision of OxLDL detection by using OxLDL immunosensor

	Intra-assay	v(n = 3)	Inter-assay (n = 20)		
OxLDL(µmole/L)	Mean ± S.D.	% C V	Mean ± S.D.	% C V	
	(µmole/l)	/0	(µmole/l)	/0	
3	3.39 ± 0.32	9.37	3.29 ± 0.8	23.04	

5.4.4 Interference of the OxLDL immunosensor

The specificity of OxLDL immunosensor was investigated by using other classes of lipoprotein such as HDL, LDL, and VLDL as the suspected interferences. The HDL, LDL, VLDL, and OxLDL were determined this performance by using OxLDL immunosensor. The result showed that the applied HDL represented the resonant frequency shift lower than the resonant frequency shift of OxLDL. Thus, the applied HDL showed non-significant resonant frequency shift in OxLDL immunosensor as shown in Figure 5.9. However, results of the applied LDL and VLDL showed significantly increased resonant frequency shift as shown in Figure 5.9. In addition, bovine serum albumin (BSA) was applied to test the sensor specificity. It showed non-significant resonant frequency shift which was similar to the applied HDL but not in LDL and VLDL. Therefore, the results indicated that LDL and VLDL have significantly interfered to the OxLDL immunosenser system due to in these samples may contained lipoprotein component as same as OxLDL components.



Figure 5.9 Specificity of OxLDL immunosensor was tested with the suspected interferences such as HDL, LDL, and VLDL by using OxLDL immunosensor under the same condition (n = 3).
CHAPTER VI DISCUSSION

Oxidized low density lipoprotein (OxLDL) is a major risk factor in atherosclerosis. The increasing of plasma OxLDL level can be utilized as a biomarker for atherosclerosis to monitor and prevent the risk factor of atherosclerosis (6, 61). Commonly, the level of plasma OxLDL is very low in normal population due to it is rapidly removed from the circulation by reticuloendothelial system and anti-oxidants (40). The normal range of plasma OxLDL is not widely reported, however it has been reported in 0.58 ± 0.23 ng/5µg LDL protein (84). There are several detection methods to investigate the amount of plasma OxLDL such as TBARS assay, conjugated diene, HPLC, and NMR (8, 14, 56). These methods are indirect determination of plasma OxLDL by measuring the product from LDL oxidation. Recently, ELISA assay has been developed as the commercial kit for detection the specific structure of OxLDL (60, 61). This method has high complexity, costly, and time-consuming. Moreover, the previous described detection methods of plasma OxLDL are not standard method to assess the amount of OxLDL in clinical diagnosis.

Therefore, in this study, piezoelectric-based immunosensor was proposed to develop for measuring the amount of plasma OxLDL, so called, OxLDL immunosensor. The OxLDL immunosensor was fabricated on 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal with silver electrode (85, 86). Generally, the quartz crystal with gold elecetrode is frequently used for quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) system according to its stability and reusability. For the silver electrode, it has been applied in many previous studies such as in Salmonella species detection and malaria diagnosis (89, 90) because the silver electrode of QCM has higher reactivity with chemical, disposable, and lowcost of fabrication (87, 88). So, it was recommended in this study. However, silver electrode can be oxidized but it does not significantly effect to the resonant frequency shift of quartz crystal (91). In addition, silver electrode quartz crystal should be kept in closed cap to prevent the oxidation reaction on silver surface.

For oxidative modification of LDL, the incubation of human LDL with copper ion has been used as a standard method to produce OxLDL which is generated a variety of modification on apolipoprotein and lipid such as MDA, HNE, and amino acids residues (92). The copper ion have been extensively used for LDL oxidation. It is a better oxidant of LDL than ferric ion because copper can bind to apo B protein to form Cu-LDL complex that is essential in copper-mediated peroxidation of LDL during incubation of LDL with copper ion (93, 94-97). In this study, native LDL at concentration 200 µg/ml gave the highest product from LDL oxidation by inducing with 50 µM CuSO₄. The application at higher concentration gave lower concentration of OxLDL than 200 µg/ml. Because the saturation concentration of LDL that was incubated with 50 μ M CuSO₄ condition in this study was 200 μ g/ml (Figure 5.2). This result showed the relationship with the previous study, the incubation of human LDL with CuSO₄ lead to the formation of Cu-LDL complexes which were depended on both LDL and copper ion concentrations in the range of 0.1-0.4 mg LDL protein/ml and 5-40 μM $Cu^{2+},$ respectively (97). So, in this study, human LDL at concentration 25-500 µg/ml can be induced to OxLDL by using 50 µM CuSO₄ at 37°C for 24 h. At 200 µg/ml of the human LDL was saturated concentration of Cu-induced LDL oxidation in this study due to the relation between Cu^{2+} binding to LDL. In addition, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) was used in this study to stop the terminal reaction of LDL oxidation (41). Moreover, in some study, butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) and nitrogen gas have been used to stop the oxidation similar to EDTA (14).

The measurement system of this study was performed by using RQCM device that was integrated with modified quartz crystal embedded into flow cell. The liquid-flow system may be developed to reduce the application time of washing and drying steps of sensor preparation. Moreover, this system can monitor the frequency change in real-time detection. Normally, the flow rate of liquid phase system depends on the diameter of quartz crystal, diameter of flow cell, and the pressure of pumping system. In this study, the appropriate flow rate for 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal by syringe pump was 60 μ l/min. This flow rate gave more stable output signal than other flow rates. The lower or higher of flow rate than 60 μ l/min, the signals were stable after 10 min in lag time. The increasing of flow rate can induce the high pressure of flow-through system lead to unstable signal of the frequency response. Therefore, the

flow rate at 60 μ l/min was chosen to operate in this measurement system due to it is suitable in the diameter of 10 MHz quartz crystal and flow cell for this study. In addition, the application of QCM in liquid phase, the resonant frequency shift is related to the surface mass-loading as well as the properties of the liquid such as viscosity, density, conductivity, and permittivity (98). Therefore, all of these factors was controlled by using same designated conditions to avoid possible influence factors to the result output.

In this study, polyclonal anti-Cu²⁺-oxidized low density lipoprotein antibody (anti-OxLDL) that obtained from Millipore was used as biological recognition element of this system. The self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of MPA was selected to immobilize antibody in this study due to its robustness and reproducibility. From previous study, Park et al. (99) presented that mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) was the best reagent for monolayer formation due to the strongest crosslinker-antibody complex binding to the gold electrode of the quartz crystal. In this study, silver electrode of quartz crystal was dipped into 10 mM MPA for 30 min to modified crystal surface (83). The functional group of MPA was activated by EDC/NHS to form bonding with the primary amine (-NH₂) of antibody on the electrode surface (85, 100). In principle, amine (NH₂) group presents in the lysine amino acid side-chain on the antibody surface can be used for covalent bonding in a random immobilization (101). Therefore, anti-OxLDL immobilization of this study was formed the covalent linkage with MPA on modified electrode surface by using random orientation.

The performance of OxLDL immunosensor is strongly dependent on the density of antibody on the sensor surface and its availability to react with OxLDL. The effective sensor preparation in term of an optimal anti-OxLDL concentration and application time were studied. This study presents that the resonant frequency shift of quartz crystal was related to the amount of antibody immobilization on the electrode surface from 10-200 μ g/ml. The optimal concentration of antibody immobilization was 100 μ g/ml due to its gave the highest resonant frequency shift and represented the higher saturation of antibody immobilization. The higher concentration did not show significant different frequency shift due to the binding of antibody on the sensor surface. For the optimal application time of antibody immobilization was 30 mins

which was given the saturation of antibody immobilization in the shortest time. The longer incubation time of antibody immobilization did not produced the increasing resonant frequency response. This study showed result in the line with previous study, Brogan KL et al. (102) which spent 30 mins to immobilize anti-calf alkaline phosphatase-immunoglobulin G (RACAP-IgG) onto gold surface. Therefore, the optimal condition of antibody immobilization that gave the binding of antibody on the sensor surface at the saturation state were 100 μ g/ml and 30 mins, respectively (Figure 5.5 and Figure 5.6). This condition of antibody immobilization can save cost and time for immunosensor preparation.

The result obviously showed ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosensor surface that reacted with OxLDL particle by the changing of sensor resonant frequency shift. The result showed that at the concentration of anti-OxLDL 100 μ g/ml represented the function ability to bind with OxLDL. The frequency change was 250 Hz. The higher concentration showed the frequency change of antigen-antibody reaction was nearly anti-OxLDL 100 μ g/ml immobilized. In addition, the incubation time of antigen-antibody interaction was 30 mins (data not shown). The reaction time would be increased with the decreasing of the molecular concentration. The changing of resonant frequency was resulted from mass of each immunocomplexes that deposited on the surface. Therefore, all of data was indicated that the 100 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL immobilized on the electrode surface has a suitiable ability to bind with the antigen. However, the frequency response of this sensor is also dependent on both the density and viscosity of the solution which passed over the QCM crystal surface (103).

Dose response curve of this assay was studied by measuring the amount of OxLDL that used as a target antigen of OxLDL immunosensor. The detection range of this assay was 0.5-3.10 μ mole/l of OxLDL concentration that had the sensitivity performance for detection the concentration of OxLDL. The limit of detection was 0.5 μ mole/l OxLDL concentration. Each concentration of OxLDL was depended on the concentration of native LDL that was incubated with copper ion. So, the concentrations of OxLDL that were used in this study were between 0.5 to 3.10 μ mole/l. In addition, the higher concentration of OxLDL which is more than 0.5 μ mole/l should be diluted to lower concentration before measurement due to sensitivity and limit of detection of this assay less than 0.5 μ mole/l. However, the

binding limit of antibody immobilization on the surface was associated with OxLDL concentration and its application antibody concentration that affected to the frequency response. Furthermore, the result in this study was comparable to the previous study, Chunta S. (83) demonstrated the detection limit of HDL-P immunosensor from 0.21 to 2.5 mg protein/ml. In addition, the normal range of OxLDL, in each laboratory was recommended to develop its own reference range which is different in the unit. The detection range in this study was represented in the micromole/l (µmole/l) unit. So, It has sensitivity higher than the previous study.

To determine the performance of this immunosensor, expectation test that gave the average expected value was 97.02%. It was implied that the accuracy of this immunosensor is satisfactory. The precision of this assay was shown in term of coefficients of variation (C.V.) of intra-assay and inter-assay experiment. The CVs of intra-assay and inter-assay experiment were 9.37% and 23.04%, respectively. In fact, the % C.V. of inter-assay was higher than intra-assay due to the variation among days. In addition, the intra-assay of this study was measured 3 times a day because the interval time of this assay was 3 hours per each experiment. In the immunoassay, the C.V. acceptable level is typically below 20% (104). Moreover, the C.V. acceptable level of inter-assay is recommended as less than or equal to 30% (105). Therefore, this assay provides an acceptable precision for predicting the performance of OxLDL immunosensor. In addition, the results of precision (Table 5.2) represented the mean of OxLDL concentration that was converted from resonant frequency shift rather than the control sample due to the immunoreaction of this system and interference factors from liquid phase system.

The interference test of OxLDL immunosensor was performed to determine the specificity of anti-OxLDL immobilization on the modified electrode surface. HDL, LDL, and VLDL were measured in OxLDL immunosensor as the suspected interference. The result showed significantly interference from cross-reactions that presented in the frequency response of each sample. The cross-reaction of this assay may be occurred from the specificity of antibody and interference of OxLDL such as LDL and VLDL.

The anti-Cu²⁺-oxidized low density lipoprotein (anti-OxLDL) was immobilized on the modified electrode surface to react with OxLDL solution. This

antibody is a polyclonal antibody from rabbit which is strongly specific to LDL oxidation including Cu²⁺-oxidized LDL, MDA-LDL, and HOCI-LDL (data from company). From the result (Figure 5.9), anti-OxLDL can be reacted with LDL and VLDL that gave the resonant frequency shift as same as OxLDL but HDL did not present significantly resonant frequency shift. Therefore, the anti-OxLDL immobilization of this immunosensor is not only specific with OxLDL because it can bind with the other molecules, especially molecules that have structure similarly to OxLDL result in reducing of specificity. In addition, polyclonal antibodies are produced by using traditional immunization procedures such as in rabbits, goats, sheep, and pigs so it is not possible to produce identical antibody specificity even in two animals of the same species and also lack of specificity (106). Polyclonal antibody can recognize multiple epitopes on any one antigen.

The interference of OxLDL occurred from the other class lipoprotein. All classes of lipoprotein have the same structure; triglyceride (TG), cholesteryl ester (CE), phospholipid (PL), and unesterified cholesterol (UC). The different type of apolipoprotein (apo) on the outer surface can be identified lipoprotein classes. LDL and VLDL contain apo B100 on the outer surface but the amounts of molecules are different. The oxidation of LDL can be generated a variety product by many mechanisms in LDL particle such as metal ions and enzymatic activity. In addition, oxidation of lipid in LDL by copper-induced oxidation generates the reactive aldehydes which can interact with the lysine residue of apo B100. The lysine residue can be substituted or modified by aldehydes resulting in OxLDL. The structures of LDL are changed after modification and could not identify its structure. Therefore, LDL and VLDL can be interfered in OxLDL immunosensor due to LDL oxidation in apo B100. Moreover, the enzymatic activity can be oxidized both the lipid and the protein moiety of LDL. All these pathways result in aldehyde-type modification of the protein moiety of LDL. The underlying mechanisms of oxidation of LDL may be different in different sample. However, the oxidation of LDL by inducing with copper ion can be oxidized LDL to OxLDL but could not know the exactly structure of OxLDL after modification. Therefore, OxLDL immunosensor has cross-reaction with LDL and VLDL due to the same structure of these lipoproteins. In addition, the resonant frequency shift of applied LDL and VLDL decreased more than OxLDL may be it cause from the molecular weight of LDL and VLDL are higher than OxLDL. So, this immunosensor absorbed the non-specific from LDL and VLDL lead to the resonant frequency shift of LDL and VLDL has significantly increased.

Therefore, this problem can be solved by using monoclonal antibody that recognized to specific structure of OxLDL lead to the specificity of this system increased. Due to monoclonal antibody has specificity higher than polyclonal antibody and recognize only one epitope on an antigen (107). In addition, the OxLDL immunosensor should be used two antibodies to measure OxLDL. The procedure of two antibodies is set up similar to the sandwich ELISA. For example, OxLDL-DLH3 assay, anti-OxPC monoclonal antibody (DLH3) and anti-human apo B polyclonal antibody are used, thus an antigen is caught between two antibodies (5, 16, 108). The antigen of this assay should be contained apo B that have been modified by OxPC. This application may be increased the specificity of this system.

Moreover, OxLDL is generated from oxidative modification of LDL so this particle may contain the combination of OxLDL and LDL. This interference can solve by pretreatment assay to purify OxLDL before measurement. LDL, VLDL, and OxLDL can be isolated by ultracentrifugation that depended on their densitybefore measuring (109). In some study,ion-exchange HPLC and affinity chromatography have been used to isolated lipoproteins to purify sample. Thus, pretreatment assay can be proposed to purify and isolate OxLDL and the lipoprotein interference resulting in specificity increased and interference decreased.

Furthermore, molecular imprinted polymer (MIP) may be proposed to solve this problem by creating the template-shape of OxLDL in polymer that used as molecular recognition of OxLDL. The OxLDL that has a similar shape to this site is recognized in the recognition site. However, structure of OxLDL in each state of oxidation is not similar because it can be modified in both lipid and protein. Hence, the structure of OxLDL that is changed after undergoes oxidation is not exactly known. Therefore, MIP can be used to solve this problem if the exactly structure of OxLDL is clarify.

All of these assays were proposed to solve the problem of specificity result in the increasing specificity of OxLDL immunosensor. However, the interference of OxLDL immunosensoris not only from specific of antibody and cross-reaction of immunosensor but also the interference from liquid phase system such as density, viscosity, and conductivity of liquid. Therefore, this immunosensor should be developed the specificity in the future.

In this study, OxLDL immunosensor was successfully developed to detect OxLDL. There are many advantages offered by OxLDL immunosensor such as the minimum amount of antibody and the labeled-free of this system. However, this immunosensor would be proposed to develop for the clinical usage in the future. The suggestion for development this immunosensor are composed of study the reliability of OxLDL immunosensor by comparision with ELISA method, measurement OxLDL by using OxLDL immunosensor in serum sample, and study regeneration ability of OxLDL immunosensor. These suggestions can indicate the efficiency of OxLDL immunosensor for clinical diagnostic. In addition, the OxLDL immunosensor optimization is an important point for developing this immunosensor resulting in reliability of OxLDL immunosensor. Altogether, this immunosensor would be developed in term of specificity and clinical usage for application in clinical diagnostic.

CHAPTER VII CONCLUSION

The high circulating oxidized low density lipoprotein (OxLDL) plays an important role in atherosclerosis. Therefore, OxLDL particle is one of biomarker for assessing risk factor of atherosclerosis. This study is aimed to develop piezoelectric-based immunosensor system for OxLDL detection. The results of this study were summarized as following.

1. Human LDL at the concentration of 25-500 μ g/ml were oxidized by incubation with 50 μ M CuSO₄. The saturation concentration of LDL that oxidized to OxLDL was 200 μ g/ml.

2. OxLDL immunosensor was created by an optimal condition of anti-OxLDL at the concentration of 100 μ g/ml which is immobilized on silver electrode surface of quartz crystal via self-assembled monolayer (SAM) method for 30 mins.

3. The opimal flow rate of this measurement system was at flow rate of 60 μ l/min.

4. The detection range of this immunosensor was $0.5-3.10 \mu$ mole/l and the limit of detection of OxLDL immunosensor was 0.5 μ mole/l.

5. The analytical accuracy of this sensing was 97.02% and the intra-assay and inter-assay precision (CVs) were 9.37 and 23.04%, respectively.

From all of results, OxLDL immunosensor was successfully developed for OxLDL detection. This system demonstrated a direct analytical process to detect OxLDL. It is rapid and simple to use without multi labeling processes. However, this immunosensor would be proposed to develop for assessment of atherosclerotic risk in clinical diagnostic.

REFERENCES

- 1. Stocker R, Keaney JF Jr. Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. *Physiol Rev* 2004;84(4):1381-478.
- Yoshida H, Kisugi R. Mechanisms of LDL oxidation. *Clin Chim Acta* 2010;411(23-24):1875-82.
- 3. Strobel NA, Fassett RG, Marsh SA, Coombes JS. Oxidative stress biomarkers as predictors of cardiovascular disease. *Int J Cardiol* 2011;147(2):191-201.
- 4. Matsuura E, Hughes GR, Khamashta MA. Oxidation of LDL and its clinical implication. *Autoimmun Rev* 2008;7(7):558-66.
- Fraley AE, Tsimikas S. Clinical applications of circulating oxidized low-density lipoprotein biomarkers in cardiovascular disease. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2006;17(5):502-9.
- Suzuki T, Kohno H, Hasegawa A, Toshima S, Amaki T, Kurabayashi M, et al. Diagnostic implications of circulating oxidized low density lipoprotein levels as a biochemical risk marker of coronary artery disease. *Clin Biochem* 2002;35(5):347-53.
- Jialal I, Devaria S. Low density lipoprotein oxidation, antioxidants, and atherosclerosis: a clinical biochemistry perpective. *Clin Chem* 1996;42(4):498-506.
- Miyazaki T, Shimada K, Sato O, Kotani K, Kume A, Sumiyoshi K, et al. Circulating malondialdehyde-modified LDL and atherogenic lipoprotein profiles measured by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in patients with coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis* 2005;179(1):139-45.
- Chakraborty S, Cai Y, Tarr MA. Mapping oxidations of apolipoprotein B-100 in human low-density lipoprotein by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Biochem* 2010;404(2):109-17.
- 10. Holvoet P, Jenny NS, Schreiner PJ, Tracy RP, Jacobs DR, Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. The relationship between oxidized LDL and other cardiovascular risk factors and subclinical CVD in different ethnic groups:

the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Atherosclerosis* 2007;194(1):245-52.

- Schreier LE, Sanguinetti S, Mosso H, Lopez GI, Siri L, Wikinski RL. Low-density lipoprotein composition and oxidability in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Clin Biochem* 1996;29(5):479-87.
- 12. Ahotupa M, Asankari TJ. Baseline diene conjugation in LDL lipids: an indicator of circulating oxidized LDL. *Free Radic Biol Med* 1999;27(11-12):1141-50.
- 13. Meagher EA, FitzGerald GA. Indices of lipid peroxidation in vivo: strengths and limitations. *Free Radic Biol Med* 2000;28(12):1745-50.
- Esterbauer H, Gebicki J, Puhl H, Jürgens G. The role of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in oxidative modification of LDL. *Free Radic Biol Med* 1992;13(4):341-90.
- 15. Tsimikas S. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein biomarkers in atherosclerosis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 2006;8(1):55-61.
- 16. Itabe H, Ueda M. Measurement of plasma oxidized low-density lipoprotein and its clinical implications. *J Atheroscler Thromb* 2007;14(1):1-11.
- 17. Nakamura H, Karube I. Current research activity in biosensors. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2003;377(3):446-68.
- Yan W, Chen X, LiX, Feng X, Zhu J.J. Fabrication of a label-free electrochemical immunosensor of low-density lipoprotein. J Phys Chem B 2008;112(4):1275-81.
- Choi JW, Jun HP, Lee W, Oh BK, Min J, Won HL. Fluorescence immunoassay of HDL and LDL using protein A LB film. J Microbial Biotechnol 2001;11(6):979-85.
- 20. Rocha T, Gomes T, Duarte A, Oliveira J. Quartz crystal microbalance with gold electrodes as a sensor for monitoring gas-phase adsorption/desorption of short chain alkylthiol and alkyl sulfides. *Anal Commun* 1998;35:415-6.
- 21. Deki S, Aoi Y, Asaoka Y, Kajinamiand A, Mizuhata M. Monitoring the growth of titanium oxide thin films by the liquid-phase deposition method with quartz crystal microbalance. *J Master Chem* 1997;7(5):733-6.
- 22. Libby P. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. Nature 2002;420(6917):868-74.

- 23. Holvoet P, Collen D. Oxidized lipoproteins in atherosclerosis and thrombosis. *FASEB J* 1994;8(15):1279-84.
- 24. Diaz MN, Frei B, Vita JA, Keaney JF Jr. Antioxidants and atherosclerotic heart disease. *N Engl J Med* 1997;337(6):408-16.
- 25. Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB, Levy D, Belanger AM, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB. Prediction of coronary heart disease using risk factor categories. *Circulation* 1998;97(18):1837-47.
- 26. Barrett-Connor E, Bush TL. Estrogen and coronary heart disease in women. *JAMA* 1991;265(14):1861-7.
- 27. Wilson PW, Kannel WB, Silbershatz H, D'Agostino RB. Clustering of metabolic factors and coronary heart disease. *Arch Intern Med* 1999;159(10):1104-9.
- 28. English JP, Willius FA, Berkson J. Tobacco and coronary disease. JAMA 1940;115(16):1327-29.
- 29. MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, Collins R, Sorlie P, Neaton J, et al. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. *Lancet* 1990;335(8692):765-74.
- 30. Bierman EL. George Lyman Duff Memorial Lecture. Atherogenesis in diabetes. *Arterioscler Thromb* 1992;12(6):647-56.
- Wasan KM, Brocks DR, Lee SD, Sachs-Barrable K, Thornton SJ. Impact of lipoproteins on the biological activity and disposition of hydrophobic drugs: implications for drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2008;7(1):84-99.
- Shen BW, ScanuAM, Kézdy FJ. Structure of human serum lipoproteins inferred from compositional analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1977;74(3):837-41.
- 33. Fauci AS, Kasper DL, Braunwald E, Hauser SL, Jameson JL, Loscalzo J. Disorders of lipoprotein metabolism. In Harrison's Principles of Internal Medicine 17thed. New York: McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.2008.
- Wasan KM, Cassidy SM. Role of plasma lipoproteins in modifying the biological activity of hydrophobic drugs. *J Pharm Sci* 1998;87(4):411-24.

- 35. National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Third Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III) final report. *Circulation* 2002;106(25):3143-421.
- 36. This web was modified by http://www.gbhealthwatch.com/Science-Cholesterol-Lipoproteins-101.php. (Access on June 20, 2012)
- 37. Hevonoja T, Pentikäinen MO, Hyvönen MT, Kovanen PT, Ala-Korpela M. Structure of low density lipoprotein (LDL) particles: basis for understanding molecular changes in modified LDL. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 2000;1488(3):189-210.
- Mertens A, Holvoet P. Oxidized LDL and HDL: antagonists in atherothrombosis. FASEB J 2001;15(12):2073-84.
- 39. Tsimikas S, Witztum JL. Measuring circulating oxidized low-density lipoprotein to evaluate coronary risk. *Circulation* 2001;103(15):1930-2.
- Levitan I, Volkov S, Subbaiah PV. Oxidized LDL: diversity, patterns of recognition, and pathophysiology. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 2010;13(1):39-75.
- Obama T, Kato R, Masuda Y, Takahashi K, Aiuchi T, Itabe H. Analysis of modified apolipoprotein B-100 structures formed in oxidized low-density lipoprotein using LC-MS/MS. *Proteomics* 2007;7(13):2132-41.
- 42. Pfanzagl B, Tribl F, Koller E, Möslinger T. Homocysteine strongly enhances metal-catalyzed LDL oxidation in the presence of cystine and cysteine. *Atherosclerosis* 2003;168(1):39-48.
- 43. Hogg N, Kalyanaraman B, Joseph J, Struck A, Parthasarathy S. Inhibition of lowdensity lipoprotein oxidation by nitric oxide. Potential role in atherogenesis. *FEBS Lett* 1993;334(2):170-4.
- 44. Faulin TE, Garcia MC, Abdalla DS. Recent advances on detection of modified forms of low-density lipoproteins. *Recent Pat Endocr Metab Immune Drug Discov* 2009;3(1):28-34.

- 45. Parthasarathy S, Wieland E, Steinberg D. A role for endothelial cell lipoxygenasein the oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1989;86(3):1046-50.
- 46. Schindhelm RK, van der Zwan LP, Teerlink T, Scheffer PG. Myeloperoxidase: a useful biomarker for cardiovascular disease risk stratification?. *Clin Chem* 2009;55(8):1462-70.
- 47. Younis N, Sharma R, Soran H, Charlton-Menys V, Elseweidy M, Durrington PN. Glycation as an atherogenic modification of LDL. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2008;19(4):378-84.
- 48. Menzel EJ, Sobal G, Staudinger A. The role of oxidative stress in the long-term glycation of LDL. *Biofactors* 1997;6(2):111-24.
- 49. Quinn MT, Parthasarathy S, Steinberg D. Lysophosphatidylcholine: a chemotactic factor for human monocytes and its potential role in atherogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1988;85(8):2805-9.
- 50. Brown AJ, Jessup W. Oxysterols and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 1999;142(1):1-28.
- Lordan S, Mackrill JJ, O'Brien NM. Oxysterols and mechanisms of apoptotic signaling: implications in the pathology of degenerative diseases. J Nutr Biochem 2009;20(5):321-36.
- 52. Itabe H. Oxidative modification of LDL: its pathological role in atherosclerosis. *Clin Rev Allergy Immunol* 2009;37(1):4-11.
- 53. Esterbauer H, Striegl G, Puhl H, Rotheneder M. Continuous monitoring of in vitro oxidation of human low density lipoprotein. *Free Radic Res Commun* 1989;6(1):67-75.
- 54. Yang TT, Koo MW. Inhibitory effect of Chinese green tea on endothelial cellinduced LDL oxidation. *Atherosclerosis* 2000;148(1):67-73.
- 55. Otvos JD, Jeyarajah EJ, Bennett DW, Krauss RM. Development of a proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopic method for determining plasma lipoprotein concentrations and subspecies distributions from a single, rapid measurement. *Clin Chem* 1992;38(9):1632-8.
- 56. Ohmori R, Momiyama Y, Tanaka N, Kato R, Taniguchi H, Nakamura H, et al. LDL fractions assessed by anion-exchange high-performance liquid

chromatography in patients with coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis* 2006;187(1):213-4.

- 57. Yamaguchi Y, Kagota S, Kunitomo M, Haginaka J. Evidence of modified lipoprotein in the plasma of Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbits by anion-exchange high-performance liquid chromatographic assay. *Atherosclerosis* 1998;139(2):323-31.
- 58. Ikeda T, Seo M, Inoue I, Katayama S, Matsunaga T, Hara A, et al. Direct and simple fluorescence detection method for oxidized lipoproteins. *Anal Chem* 2010;82(3):1128-32.
- 59. Bossola M, Tazza L, Luciani G, Tortorelli A, Tsimikas S. OxPL/apoB, lipoprotein(a) and OxLDL biomarkers and cardiovascular disease in chronic hemodialysis patients. *J Nephrol* 2011;24(5):581-8.
- 60. Ueba T, Nomura S, Nishikawa T, Kajiwara M, Yamashita K. Circulating oxidized LDL, measured with FOH1a/DLH3 antibody, is associated with metabolic syndrome and the coronary heart disease risk score in healthy Japanese. *Atherosclerosis* 2009;203(1):243-8.
- 61. Holvoet P, Mertens A, Verhamme P, Bogaerts K, Beyens G, Verhaeghe R, et al. Circulating oxidized LDL is a useful marker for identifying patients with coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2001;21(5):844-8.
- Rodriguez-Mozaz S, Macro MP, Lopez de Alda MJ, Barcelo D. Biosensor for environmental applications: future development trands. *Pure Appl Chem* 2004;76(4):723-52.
- 63. Bunde RL, Jarvi EJ, Rosentreter JJ. Piezoelectric quartz crystal biosensors. *Talanta* 1998;46(6):1223-36.
- 64. Luppa PB, Sokoll LJ, Chan DW. Immunosensors--principles and applications to clinical chemistry. *Clin Chim Acta* 2001;314(1-2):1-26.
- 65. Turner AP. Tech.Sight. Biochemistry. Biosensors--sense and sensitivity. *Science* 2000;290(5495):1315-7.
- 66. Collings AF, Caruso F. Biosensors: recent advances. *Rep Prog Phys* 1997;60: 1397-445.
- 67. Gizeli E, Lowe CR. Immunosensors. Curr Opin Biotechnol 1996;7(1):66-71.

- 68. Su X, Chew FT, Li SFY. Design and application of piezoelectric quartz crystalbased immunosensor. *Anal Sci* 2000;16(2):107-14.
- 69. Ballantine DS, Wohltjen H. Surface acoustic wave devises for chemical analysis. Anal Chem 1989;61(11):704-15.
- Skládal P. Piezoelectric quartz crystal sensors applied for bioanalytical assays and characterization of affinity interactions. *J Braz Chem Soc* 2003;14(4):491-502.
- 71. Janshoff A, Galla HJ, Steinem C. Piezoelectric mass-sensing devices asbiosensors-An alternative to optical biosensors. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl* 2000;39(22):4004-32.
- 72. Trainer M. Kelvin and piezoelectricity. Eur J Phys 2003;24(5):535-42.
- 73. Kanazawa KK, Gordon JG. Frequency of a quartz microbalance in contact with liquid. *Anal Chem* 1985;57(8):1770-1.
- 74. Taylor RF. Immobilized antibody-and receptor-based biosensors. In: Taylor RF, editor. Protein immobilization: fundamentals and applications. New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc; 1991:263-303.
- 75. Bickerstaff GF. Immobilization of enzymes and cells. *In: Bickerstaff GF, editor. Immobilization of enzymes and cells.* New Jersey: Human Press; 1997:111.
- Figgins BR. Biosensors: an Introduction. Lane Chester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd; 1979:31-50.
- 77. Thompson M, Arthur CL, Dhaliwal GK. Liquid-phase piezoelectric and acoustic transmission studies of interfacial immunochemistry. *Anal Chem* 1986;58(6):1206-9.
- 78. Tecilla P, Dixon RP, Slobodkin G, Alavi DS, Waldeck DH, Hamilton AD. Hydrogen-bonding self-assembly of multichromophore structure. J Am Chem Soc 1990;112(25):9408-10.
- 79. Li XM, Husken J, Reinhoudt DN. Reactive self-assembled monolayers on flat and nanoparticle surfaces, and their application in soft and scanning probe lithographic nanofabrication technologies. J Mater Chem 2004;14(20):2954-71.
- Allara DL. Critical issues in applications of self-assembled monolayers. *Biosens Bioelectron* 1995;10(9):771-83.

- Zhou XC, Huang LQ, Li SF. Microgravimetric DNA sensor based on quartz crystal microbalance: comparison of oligonucleotide immobilization methods and the application in genetic diagnosis. *Biosens Bioelectron* 2001;16(1-2):85-95.
- Caruso F, Rodda E, Furlong DN, Niikura K, Okahata Y. Quartz crystal microbalance study of DNA immobilization and hybridization for nucleic acid sensor development. *Anal Chem* 1997;69(11):2043-9.
- Chunta S. Development of immunosensor for high density lipoprotein measurement [M.Sc. Thesis in Medical Technology]. Bangkok: Faculty of Graduated Studies, Mahidol University; 2010.
- 84. Kang Q, Chen A. Curcumin eliminates oxidized LDL roles in activating hepatic stellate cells by suppressing gene expression of lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1. *Lab Invest* 2009;89(11):1275-90.
- 85. Yang M, Chen J. Self-assembled monolayer based quartz crystal biosensors for the detection of endotoxins. *Analytical letters* 2002;35(11):1775-84.
- 86. Mo Z, Long X, Zhang M. Piezoelectric detection of ion pairs between sulphonateand catecholamines for flow injection analysis of pharmaceutical preparations. *Talanta* 1999;48(3):643-8.
- 87. Sezer M, Feng JJ, Khoa Ly H, Shen Y, Nakanishi T, Kuhlmann U, et al. Multi layer electron transfer across nanostructured Ag-SAM-Au-SAM junctions probed by surface enhanced Raman spectroscopy. *Phys Chem Chem Phys* 2010;12(33):9822-9.
- Su X, Ng HT, Dai CC, O'Shea SJ, Li SF.Disposable, low cost, silver-coated, piezoelectric quartz crystal biosensor and electrode protection. *Analyst* 2000;125(12):2268-73.
- 89. Wong YY, Ng SP, Ng MH, Si SH, Yao SZ, Fung YS. Immunosensor for the differentiation and detection of Salmonella species based on a quartz crystal microbalance. *Biosens Bioelectron* 2002;17(8):676-84.
- 90. Ittarat W, Chomean S, Sanchomphu C, Wangmaung N, Promptmas C, Ngrenngarmlert W. Biosensor as a molecular malaria differential diagnosis. *Clin Chim Acta* 2013;419:47-51.

- 91. Sripratumporn J. Mass sensitive immunosensor for microalbumin determination [M.Sc. Thesis in Medical Technology]. Bangkok: Faculty of Graduated Studies, Mahidol University; 2008.
- 92. Steinbrecher UP, Lougheed M, Kwan WC, Dirks M. Recognition of oxidized low density lipoprotein by the scavenger receptor of macrophages results from derivatization of apolipoprotein B by products of fatty acid peroxidation. J Biol Chem 1989;264(26):15216-23.
- 93. Hashimoto K, Kataoka N, Nakamura E, Tsujioka K, Kajiya F. Oxidized LDL specifically promotes the initiation of monocyte invasion during transendothelial migration with upregulated PECAM-1 and downregulated VE-cadherin on endothelial junctions. *Atherosclerosis* 2007;194(2):e9-17.
- 94. Kuzuya M, Naito M, Funaki C, Hayashi T, Asai K, Kuzuya F. Lipid peroxide and transition metals are required for the toxicity of oxidized low density lipoprotein to cultured endothelial cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1991;1096(2):155-61.
- 95. Kuzuya M, Yamada K, Hayashi T, Funaki C, Naito M, Asai K, Kuzuya F. Oxidation of low-density lipoprotein by copper and iron in phosphate buffer. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1991;1084(2):198-201.
- 96. Visioli F, Bordone R, Perugini C, Bagnati M, Cau C, Bellomo G. The kinetics of copper-induced LDL oxidation depend upon its lipid composition and antioxidant content. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2000;268(3):818-22.
- 97. Retsky KL, Chen K, Zeind J, Frei B. Inhibition of copper-induced LDL oxidation by vitamin C is associated with decreased copper-binding to LDL and 2oxo-histidine formation. *Free Radic Biol Med* 1999;26(1-2):90-8.
- 98. Shen D, Kang Q, Wang YE, Hu Q, Du J. New cut angle quartz crystal microbalance with low frequency-temperature coefficients in an aqueous phase. *Talanta* 2008;76(4):803-8.
- 99. Park IS, Kim DK, Adanyi N, Varadi M, Kim N. Development of a direct-binding chloramphenicol sensor based on thiol or sulfide mediated self-assembled antibody monolayers. *Biosens Bioelectron* 2004;19(7):667-74.

- 100. Vaughana RD, O'Sullivana CK, Guilbault GG. Development of a quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) immunosensor for the detection of *Listeria* monocytogenes. Enzyme Microb Technol 2001;29(10):635-8.
- 101. Trilling AK, Beekwilder J, Zuilhof H. Antibody orientation on biosensor surfaces: a minireview. Analyst 2013;138(6):1619-27.
- 102. Brogan KL, Wolfe KN, Jones PA, Schoenfisch MH. Direct oriented immobilization of F(ab') antibody fragments on gold. Anal Chim Acta 2003;496:73-80.
- 103. Wang SH, Shen CY, Weng TC, Lin PH, Yang JJ, Chen IF, et al. Detection of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein using a quartz crystal microbalance. *Sensors (Basel)* 2010;10(12):11633-43.
- 104. Gill S, Hayes FJ, Sluss PM. Issue in Endocrine Immunoassay. In: Contemporary Endocrinology: Handbook of Diagnostic Endocrinology. New Jersey: Humana Press Inc.:1-22.
- 105. DeSilva B, Smith W, Weiner R, Kelley M, Smolec J, Lee B, et al. Recommendations for the bioanalytical method validation of ligandbinding assays to support pharmacokinetic assessments of macromolecules. *Pharm Res* 2003;20(11):1885-900.
- 106. Franek M, Hruska K. Antibody based methods for environmental and food analysis: a review. *Vet Med* 2005;50(1):1-10.
- 107. Jiang X, Li D, Xu X, Ying Y, Li Y, Ye Z, et al. Immunosensors for detection of pesticide residues. *Biosens Bioelectron* 2008;23(11):1577-87.
- 108. Itabe H, Yamamoto H, Imanaka T, Shimamura K, Uchiyama H, Kimura J, et al. Sensitive detection of oxidatively modified low density lipoprotein using a monoclonal antibody. *J Lipid Res* 1996;37(1):45-53.
- 109. Quinn MT, Parthasarathy S, Steinberg D. Lysophosphatidylcholine: a chemotactic factor for human monocytes and its potential role in atherogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1988;85(8):2805-9.

Piyarat Sripoorote

Appendix / 80

APPENDIX

October 31 - November 1, 2012

PIEZOELECTRIC-BASED IMMUNOSENSOR FOR OXIDIZED LOW DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN DETERMINATION

Piyarat Sripoorote*, Tararat Khaokhiew ¹and Chamras Promptmas²

*Master of Science Programme in Medical Technology (International Programme) Department of Clinical Chemistry, Faculty of Medical Technology, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand ¹Center of Medical Laboratory Service, Faculty of Medical Technology, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand ²National Doping Control Centre, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand *E-mail: pnt 94@hotmail.com

ABSTRACT

Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein (OxLDL) is a crucial contributor of atherosclerosis by inducing tissue damage and inflammation of the arterial wall. The present of atherosclerosis inside the blood vessel wall directly affects to blood flow rate which closely relates to the risk of heart attack and stroke. The elevation of OxLDL in plasma is also associated with pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Therefore, OxLDL has been recognized as the biomarker for atherosclerosis events. The reliable detection method for this biomarker is recently essential for atherosclerosis risk assessment. The piezoelectric immunosensor with modified quartz crystal surface was developed as a detection system to determine OxLDL concentration upon the binding interaction between OxLDL and anti-OxLDL. The anti-OxLDL was immobilized on silver electrode surface of 10 MHz AT-cut piezoelectric quartz crystal via self-assembled monolayer (SAM) of mercaptopropionic acid (MPA). The optimal anti-OxLDL immobilization was investigated to achieve the binding capability of this antibody on the immunosensor surface. The optimized immobilization of anti-OxLDL was at the concentration of 100 µg/ml and 30 min for its immobilization time, respectively. The anti-OxLDL and OxLDL particle interaction creates surface mass deposition which has ability to change the resonance frequency of quartz crystal upto 250 Hz. with linear relationship between amount of OxLDL and frequency shift. This OxLDL immunosensor was successfully developed to determine the amount of OxLDL. Therefore, this immunosensor would be a promising device for assessment of atherosclerotic risk.

Keywords: Atherosclerosis, Oxidized low density lipoprotein (OxLDL), Biosensor, Immunosensor.

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is a disease of the arterial wall which undergoes the formation of plaque in the intima layer or subendothelial space leading to cardiovascular disease (CVD) that causes the death of the world's population [1]. There are many risk factors associated with atherosclerosis such as low density lipoprotein (LDL) level, high density lipoprotein (HDL) level, obesity, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and smoking. The high circulating LDL in plasma can be trapped into intima layer of arterial wall and these LDL molecules become susceptible to oxidation by free radicals, metal ions, lipoxygenase and myeloperoxidase, called oxidized LDL (OxLDL) [2, 3]. The OxLDL is, then taken up by macrophages through scavenger receptors, leading to accumulate of foam cell in atherosclerosis plaque [4, 5]. In addition, the OxLDL is an important contributor and major risk factor of atherosclerosis progression. Therefore, the OxLDL would be one of biomarker for predicting and monitoring atherosclerosis events [6, 7].

There are several methods to measure plasma OxLDL level such as thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) assay and conjugated diene methods. These methods are general used for measurement the plasma OxLDL [8, 9]. The principle of TBARS assay is the reaction

Mahidol University Graduate Research 2012

October 31 - November 1, 2012

between thiobarbituric acid and malondialdehyde (MDA) to yield secondary fluorescent product of lipid peroxidation. However, malondialdehyde can be generated from the other sources. The final reaction product of TBARS assay is not only come lipid peroxidation [10]. The conjugated diene method measures the rearrangement of double bonds in polyunsaturated fatty acid [9]. Both methods are simple and rapid, but they are non-specific and low limit detection for LDL oxidation [11, 12]. The OxLDL can be definitely determined by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and mass spectrometry (MS). These methods are inconvenience for routine operation regarding to the requirement of sophisticate analytical equipment, the complexity of assay technique, and the running cost of analysis. Recently, enzyme-linked immunoabsorbent assay (ELISA) has been developed for measuring OxLDL using monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) such as E06, FOH1a/DLH3 and 4E6 antibodies [13, 14]. However, this method offers only medium sensitivity and specificity. Moreover, it still has unpreferable time-consuming and expensive analytical cost. Therefore, the alternative detection methods of plasma OxLDL should be developed to overcome the disadvantages of those methods.

Several cutting-edge technologies including the biosensor based approach has been developed by integrating the immunoassay to relevant sensing device, so call ed immunosensor. Recently, utilizing of piezoelectric quartz crystal device has more attractive due to the unique properties of labeled-free method. The piezoelectric-based immunosensor is based on antigenantibody interaction which causes mass deposition on the surface of sensing device. This mass change can be directly measured the corresponding frequency change. This detection system has been developed for environmental, chemical analysis and medical diagnosis applications [15]. In addition, it is also applied for direct measurement of lipoprotein particle such as LDL and HDL [16, 17].

OxLDL immunosensor based on piezoelectric quartz crystal was developed by immobilization of anti-OxLDL on the modified quartz crystal surface via covalent linkage. The anti-OxLDL on immunosensor plays the key role of binding interaction between OxLDL particles and anti-OxLDL. This interaction produces accumulation of mass on the surface of device which can be monitored using the resonant frequency shift of quartz crystal.

OBJECTIVE/ RESEARCH QUESTION

The key objective of this study is to create an appropriate analytical method for quantification of OxLDL using piezoelectric-based quartz crystal immunosensor system.

RESEARCH METHODS

Preparation of oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL)

The OxLDL particle was prepared by the oxidation of LDL using copper ions. The 100 μ g/ml human LDL (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was oxidized by incubation with 50 μ M CuSO₄ at 37°C for 24 h and the reaction was terminated by adding 0.25 mM EDTA for 15 min. The amount of oxidative modification of LDL was determined by thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS) assay method. The colored product of this reaction was measured with spectrophotometry at the wavelength of 532 nm. This OxLDL solution was adjusted to 4 μ mole/L for testing of developed immunosensor binding ability.

The measuring system and OxLDL immunosensor preparation

The silver-fabricated quartz crystal (AT-cut, 10 MHz, 8 mm in diameter) was obtained from Kyocera-Kinseki, Thailand. This crystal was embedded into flow cell which was connected to syringe pump (New Era, USA). The optimal flow rate of this flow system was tested for 30 min at 30, 60, 120, 180, 300, 500 μ l/min, respectively. The resonance frequency (Hz) of quartz crystal in all experiment was followed and recorded using a RQCM resonant frequency counter (Maxtek, USA).

Anti-OxLDL (Millipore, USA) was immobilized by covalent binding method via selfassembled monolayer (SAM). The cleaned silver electrode surface of quartz crystal was immersed into 10 mM 3-mercaptopropionic acid (MPA) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) at room temperature for 1 hour. Then, the functional group of MPA was activated by adding 10 μ l of 200 mM 1-Ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropril) carbodiimide (EDC) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) solution and 10 μ l of 50 mM N-hydroxysulfosuccinimide (NHS) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) solution for 30 min at room temperature. This modified quartz surface was then rinsed with distilled water and embedded into flow cell of RQCM system.

Immobilization of anti-OxLDL

The anti-OxLDL at 10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 μ g/ml was injected into flow cell by syringe pump. The flow of each antibody solution was stopped and then stood for 15, 30, 45 and 60 min, respectively. The resonant frequency shift of anti-OxLDL immobilization was monitored by RQCM system.

Binding ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosensor surface

The binding ability of immobilized anti-OxLDL was demonstrated by the resonant frequency shift during the OxLDL and anti-OxLDL interaction. Each OxLDL immunosensor from immobilization of 20, 50, 100 and 150 μ g/ml anti-OxLDL was applied with 1% BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) solution to block the remaining potential reactive surface. Four μ mole/L OxLDL was injected into flow cell after washing out the excess BSA with PBS buffer pH 7.4 and then incubated for 30 min. The response frequency shift was recorded.

RESULTS

Preparation of oxidative modification of LDL (OxLDL)

The oxidative modification of LDL was generated by inducing LDL oxidation with copper ion and measured its product with TBARS assay. The secondary product of lipid peroxidation, MDA, refers to OxLDL in this experiment. The concentration of OxLDL can be figured out from the standard curve of 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (TMP) (Figure 1.).



Figure 1 The relationship of 1,1,3,3-Tetramethoxypropane (TMP) concentration (µmole/L) and the absorbance at 532 nm. This standard curve was used for determination of OxLDL concentration by TBARS assay.

The human LDL at different concentration was incubated with copper ions at 37°C for 24 h and measured the amount concentration of OxLDL by TBARS assay. The result showed that 50 to 500 µg/ml human LDL successfully yielded OxLDL. The application at higher concentration tends to produce more amount of OxLDL as shown in Figure 2.

Mahidol University Graduate Research 2012

October 31 - November 1, 2012



Figure 2 The relationship between of human LDL concentration in the reaction and the product, OxLDL, of the lipid oxidation.

The measuring system and OxLDL immunosensor preparation

The flow rate of this measuring system was tested by driving PBS pH 7.4 solution through the flow cell embedded with 10 MHz AT cut quartz for 30 min. The system gave the most stable resonant frequency signal at 60 μ l/min flow rate (Δ F±1 Hz) as presented in Figure 3. The higher flow rate up to 300 μ l/min also maintained acceptable signal stability (Δ F±10 Hz) after 10 min lag time. Therefore, the 60 μ l/min flow rate was chosen to conduct throughout this experiment.



Figure 3 The signal stability of measuring system with designated flow cell at the different flow rates.

Immobilization of anti-OxLDL

The silver electrode surface was successfully coated with 10 mM MPA. The functional group of MPA was activated by EDC/NHS generating active functional group to form covalent linkage with primary amine of antibody molecule. The anti-OxLDL was immobilized onto this modified surface. The anti-OxLDL at 10, 20, 50, 100 and 200 μ g/ml was immobilized onto the modified quartz crystal surface.

The result in Figure 4 showed increasing of resonance frequency change when applying higher concentration of anti-OxLDL.

The highest resonant frequency shift ($\Delta F = 268$ Hz) was obtained from the anti-OxLDL at concentration of 100 µg/ml. The concentration higher than this value did not present significant different frequency shift.

Mahidol University Graduate Research 2012

October 31 - November 1, 2012



Queen Sri Savarindira & Prince Mahidol Adulayadej Commemoration Conference

Shift (Hz) 250 200

> 150 100



Figure 4 Optimization of anti-OxLDL immobilization on silver electrode surface of 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal.

In addition, Figure 5 suggested the appropriate incubation time of anti-OxLDL immobilization for 30 min at room temperature.



Figure 5 Optimization of anti-OxLDL immobilization time on silver electrode surface of 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal.

Binding ability of anti-OxLDL on immunosensor surface

The binding ability of anti-OxLDL was investigated by the interaction between OxLDL particle in tested solution and immobilized anti-OxLDL on immunosensor surface. Four µmole/L of OxLDL was applied on OxLDL immunosensor surface with 20, 50, 100 and 150 µg/ml anti-OxLDL for 1 h at room temperature. The resonant frequency shift from the immunosensor without anti-OxLDL illustrated the binding activity of anti-OxLDL on the sensor surface. The result in Figure 6 showed 250 Hz change on the sensor surface with 100 µg/ml anti-OxLDL or higher. The lower amount of anti-OxLDL on the sensor surface gave less resonant frequency shift (binding ability).



October 31 - November 1, 2012

Figure 6 The binding ability of anti-OxLDL on OxLDL immunosensor surface.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Oxidized low density lipoprotein (OxLDL) is a major risk factor in atherosclerosis. The increasing of plasma OxLDL level can be applied as a biomarker for atherosclerosis to monitor and prevent the risk factor of atherosclerosis [18, 19]. Commonly, the level of OxLDL circulation is very low in normal population (0.58 ± 0.23 ng/5 µg LDL proteins) [20]. There are many methods to determine the amount of plasma OxLDL [10, 21-23]. Recently, ELISA assay has been developed as the commercial kit [18, 24]. However, this technique has high complexity, costly and time-consuming. Therefore, piezoelectric-based biosensor was proposed to develop for measuring the amount of plasma OxLDL (OxLDL immunosensor). The OxLDL immunosensor was fabricated on 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal with silver electrode [25, 26]. Generally, the quartz crystal with gold electrode is frequently used for quartz crystal microbalance system (QCM) regarding to their stability and reusability. The silver electrode was recommended in this study due to the lower cost of fabricated electrode [27, 28]. However, the silver electrode can be oxidized but it do not significant effect to the frequency shift of quartz crystal [29].

The incubation of human LDL with copper ion has been used as standard method to produce OxLDL which is generated a variety of modification on apolipoprotein and lipid such as MDA, HNE and amino acids residues [30]. The copper ion has been extensively used for LDL oxidation. It is a better oxidant of LDL than ferric ion because copper can bind to apoB protein to form Cu-LDL complex that essential in copper-mediated peroxidation of LDL during incubation with copper ion [8, 31-34]. However, the formation of Cu-LDL complexes were dependent on both LDL and copper ion concentrations in the range of 0.1-0.4 mg LDL protein/ml and 5-40 μ M Cu²⁺, respectively [34].

The measuring system of this study was performed by using RQCM device integrated with quartz crystal embedded flow cell system. Normally, the flow rate of liquid phase depends on the diameter of quartz crystal and pumping system. In this study, a suitable flow rate for 10 MHz AT-cut quartz crystal was 60μ l/min. The self-assembly monolayer (SAM) of MPA was selected to immobilize antibody due to its robustness and reproducibility. The silver electrode of quartz crystal was dipped into 10 mM MPA for 30 min. The functional group of MPA was activated by EDC/NHS to form bonding with the primary amine in antibody [35, 36]. Therefore, anti-OxLDL was formed the covalent linkage with MPA modified surface electrode.

The performance of OxLDL immunosensor is strongly dependent on the density of antibody on the surface and its availability to react with the OxLDL. The effective sensor preparation in terms of an optimal concentration and time incubation were studied. The study presented that

the resonant frequency shift of quartz crystal related to the amount of antibody immobilization (10-200 μ g/ml). The optimal concentration and incubation time of anti-OxLDL are 100 μ g/ml and 30 minutes, respectively. The result in this study was comparable to the previous study, Yang and Chen [25].

The result obviously showed the ability of anti-OxLDL to bind OxLDL particle by changing of sensor resonant frequency of 250 Hz when using anti-oxLDL at 100 μ g/ml or higher. It was indicated that the immobilized antibody on the electrode surface had ability to bind with the antigen. It implied the successful OxLDL immunosensor preparation. The method validation should be figured out in term of limit of detection, analytical accuracy, precision, sensitivity, and specificity regarding to the ISO and the Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (CLIA'88) requirements.

In summary, the OxLDL immunosensor has been successfully developed for OxLDL particle detection and quantification. The anti-OxLDL can be immobilized onto surface electrode *via* self-assembly monolayer in the immunosensor. This system demonstrated a direct analytical process to detect OxLDL. It is simple to use without multiple labeling processes. It is also offers high sensitive response and possibility for real time detection which is suitable for diagnostics application.

REFERENCES

- Stocker, R., & Keaney, J.F. Jr. (2004). Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. Physiol Rev, 84(4), 1381-1478.
- Yoshida, H., & Kisugi, R. (2010). Mechanisms of LDL oxidation. Clin Chim Acta, 411(23-24), 1875-1882.
- Meagher, E.A., & FitzGerald, G.A. (2000). Indices of lipid peroxidation in vivo: strengths and limitations. Free Radic Biol Med, 28(12), 1745-1750.
- 4.Obama, T., Kato, R., Masuda, Y., Takahashi, K., Aiuchi, T., & Itabe, H. (2007). Analysis of modified apolipoprotein B-100 structures formed in oxidized low-density lipoprotein using LC-MS/MS. Proteomics, 7(13), 2132-2141.
- Matsuura, E., Hughes, G.R., & Khamashta, M.A. (2008). Oxidation of LDL and its clinical implication. Autoimmun Rev, 7(7), 558-566.
- 6.Fraley, A.E., & Tsimikas S. (2006). Clinical applications of circulating oxidized low-density lipoprotein biomarkers in cardiovascular disease. Curr Opin Lipidol, 17(5), 502-509.
- 7.Holvoet, P., Jenny, N.S., Schreiner, P.J., Tracy, R.P., Jacobs, D.R., & Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. (2007). The relationship between oxidized LDL and other cardiovascular risk factors and subclinical CVD in different ethnic groups: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Atherosclerosis, 194(1), 245-252.
- 8.Hashimoto, K., Kataoka, N., Nakamura, E., Tsujioka, K., & Kajiya, F. (2007). Oxidized LDL specifically promotes the initiation of monocyte invasion during transendothelial migration with upregulated PECAM-1 and downregulated VE-cadherin on endothelial junctions. Atherosclerosis, 194(2), e9-17.
- Ahotupa, M., & Asankari, T.J. (1999). Baseline diene conjugation in LDL lipids: an indicator of circulating oxidized LDL. Free Radic Biol Med, 27(11-12), 1141-1150.
- 10.Esterbauer, H., Gebicki, J., Puhl, H., & Jürgens, G. (1992). The role of lipid peroxidation and antioxidants in oxidative modification of LDL. Free Radic Biol Med, 13(4), 341-390
- El-Saadani, M., Esterbauer, H., El-Sayed, M., Goher, M., Nassar, A.Y., & Jürgens, G. (1989). A spectrophotometric assay for lipid peroxides in serum lipoproteins using a commercially available reagent. J Lipid Res, 30(4), 627-630.
- 12. Jialal, I., & Devaria, S. (1996). Low density lipoprotein oxidation, antioxidants, and atherosclerosis: a clinical biochemistry perpective. Clin Chem, 42(4), 498-506.
- Tsimikas, S. (2006). Oxidized low-density lipoprotein biomarkers in atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep, 8(1), 55-61.

Mahidol University Graduate Research 2012

- 14.Itabe, H., & Ueda, M. (2007). Measurement of plasma oxidized low-density lipoprotein and its clinical implications. J Atheroscler Thromb, 14(1), 1-11.
- 15.Nakamura, H., & Karube, I. (2003). Current research activity in biosensors. Anal Bioanal Chem, 377(3):446-68.
- 16.Yan, W., Chen, X., Li, X., Feng, X., & Zhu, J.J. (2008). Fabrication of a label-free electrochemical immunosensor of low-density lipoprotein. J Phys Chem B, 112(4):1275-81.
- 17.Choi, J.W., Jun, H.P., Lee, W., Oh, B.K., Min, J., & Won, H.L. (2001). Fluorescence immunoassay of HDL and LDL using protein A LB film. J microbial biotechnol, 11(6) : 979-985.
- 18.Holvoet, P., Mertens, A., Verhamme, P., Bogaerts, K., Beyens, G., Verhaeghe, R., Collen, D., Muls, E., & Van, de Werf F. (2001). Circulating oxidized LDL is a useful marker for identifying patients with coronary artery disease. Atheroscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 21(5), 844-848.
- 19.Suzuki, T., Kohno, H., Hasegawa, A., Toshima, S., Amaki, T., Kurabayashi, M., & Nagai, R. (2002). Diagnostic implications of circulating oxidized low density lipoprotein levels as a biochemical risk marker of coronary artery disease. Clin Biochem, 35(5), 347-353.
- 20.Kang, Q., & Chen, A. (2009). Curcumin eliminates oxidized LDL roles in activating hepatic stellate cells by suppressing gene expression of lectin-like oxidized LDL receptor-1. Lab Invest, 89(11), 1275-1290.
- 21.Ohmori, R., Momiyama, Y., Tanaka, N., Kato, R., Taniguchi, H., Nakamura, H., & Ohsuzu, F. (2006). LDL fractions assessed by anion-exchange high performance liquid chromatography in patients with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis, 187(1), 213-214.
- 22.Miyazaki, T., Shimada, K., Sato, O., Kotani, K., Kume, A., Sumiyoshi, K., Sato, Y., Ohmura, H., Watanabe, Y., Mokuno, H., & Daida, H. (2005). Circulating malondialdehydemodified LDL and atherogenic lipoprotein profiles measured by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy in patients with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis, 179(1), 139-145.
- 23. Chakraborty, S., Cai, Y., & Tarr, M.A. (2010). Mapping oxidations of apolipoprotein B-100 in human low-density lipoprotein by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Anal Biochem, 404(2), 109-117.
- 24.Ueba, T., Nomura, S., Nishikawa, T., Kajiwara, M., & Yamashita, K. (2009). Circulatingoxidized LDL, measured with FOH1a/DLH3 antibody, is associated with metabolic syndrome and the coronary heart disease risk score in healthy Japanese. Atherosclerosis, 203(1), 243-248.
- 25. Yang, M., & Chen, J. (2002). Self-assembled monolayer based quartz crystal biosensors for the detection of endotoxins. Analytical letters, 359(11), 1775-1784.
- 26.Mo, Z., Long X., & Zhang, M. (1999). Piezoelectric detection of ion pairs between sulphonate and catecholamines for flow injection analysis of pharmaceutical preparations. Talanta, 48(3), 643-648.
- 27.Su, X., Ng, H.T., Dai, C.C., O'Shea, S.J., & Li, S.F. (2000). Disposable, low cost, silvercoated, piezoelectric quartz crystal biosensor and electrode protection. Analyst, 125(12), 2268-2273.
- 28.Wong, Y.Y., Ng, S.P., Ng, M.H., Si, S.H., Yao, S.Z., & Fung, Y.S. (2002). Immunosensor for the differentiation and detection of Salmonella species based on a quartz crystal microbalance. Biosens Bioelectron, 17(8), 676-684.
- 29.Sripratumporn, J. (2008). Mass sensitive immunosensor for microalbumin determination [M.Sc. Thesis in Medical Technology]. Bangkok: Faculty of Graduated Studies, Mahidol University
- 30.Steinbrecher, U.P., Lougheed, M., Kwan, W.C., & Dirks, M. (1989). Recognition of oxidized low density lipoprotein by the scavenger receptor of macrophages results from derivatization of apolipoprotein B by products of fatty acid peroxidation. J Biol Chem,

Mahidol University Graduate Research 2012

264(26), 15216-15223.

- 31.Kuzuya, M., Naito, M., Funaki, C., Hayashi, T., Asai, K., & Kuzuya, F. (1991). Lipid peroxide and transition metals are required for the toxicity of oxidized low density lipoprotein to cultured endothelial cells. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1096(2), 155-161.
- 32.Kuzuya, M., Yamada, K., Hayashi, T., Funaki, C., Naito, M., Asai, K., & Kuzuya, F. (1991). Oxidation of low-density lipoprotein by copper and iron in phosphate buffer. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1084(2), 198-201.
- 33.Visioli, F., Bordone, R., Perugini, C., Bagnati, M., Cau, C., & Bellomo, G. (2000). The kinetics of copper-induced LDL oxidation depend upon its lipid composition and antioxidant content. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 268(3), 818-822.
- 34.Retsky, KL., Chen, K., Zeind, J., & Frei, B. (1999). Inhibition of copper-induced LDL oxidation by vitamin C is associated with decreased copper-binding to LDL and 2-oxohistidine formation. Free Radic Biol Med, 26(1-2), 90-98.
- 35.Pomorska, A., Shchukin, D., Hammond, R., Cooper, M.A., Grundmeier, G., & Johannsmann, D. (2010). Positive frequency shifts observed upon adsorbing micron-sized solid objects to a quartz crystal microbalance from the liquid phase. Anal Chem, 82(6), 2237-2242.
- 36.Gaus, K., & Hall, E.A.H. (2002). Low density lipoprotein interaction with amino acidmodified self assembled monolayers on surface plasmon resonance surfaces. Anal Chim Acta, 470, 3-17.

Biography / 90

BIOGRAPHY

NAME	Miss Piyarat Sripoorote
DATE OF BIRTH	24 November 1986
PLACE OF BIRTH	Roi-Et, Thailand
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	Mahidol University, 2005-2010
	Bachelor of Science
	(Medical Technology)
	Mahidol University, 2010-2012
	Master of Science
	(Medical Technology)
HOME ADDRESS	152 M. 4,
	Therdthai District, Thoongkaoluang,
	Roi-Et, Thailand, 45170.
	E-mail: pnt_94@hotmail.com

PRESENTATION & INTERNATIONAL MEETING ABSTRACTS

- Sripoorote, P., Khaowkhiew, T., & Promptmas, C. (2011). Development of Biosensor System for Quantification of Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein. In Abstract of 9th Asian Conference on Chemical Sensors, November 14-17, 2011, Taipei, Taiwan. (Poster Presentation)
- Sripoorote, P., Khaowkhiew, T., & Promptmas, C. (2012). Piezoelectric-based Immunosensor for Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein Determination. In Abstract of MU Grad Research @ Queen Srisavarindira and Prince Mahidol Commemoration Conference 2012, October 31- November 1, 2012, Nakhonpathom, Thailand. (Poster Presentation)